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Strategic Report

The Directors present the Strategic Report of AmTrust Europe Limited (‘AEL’ or ‘the Company’) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of AmTrust International Limited (‘AIL") which is a UK Limited Company. The
Company’s ultimate parent is Evergreen Parent GP, LLC, a Delaware registered United States limited liability company.
Evergreen is an entity formed by private equity funds managed by Stone Point Capital LLC, together with Barry Zyskind,
Chairman and CEO of the AmTrust Group, George Karfunkel and Leah Karfunkel (collectively, the ‘Karfunkel-Zyskind
Family’).

As a member of the AmTrust Group, the Company benefits from financial, operational and management support. The
AmTrust Group is a multinational property and casualty insurance group specialising in small to medium sized
businesses. With.extensive underwriting experience and a prestigious ‘A-* (Excellent) Financial Size ‘XV’ rating from
A.M. Best for most of its insurance companies. Commitment to excellence is a common thread connecting each of the
AmTrust Group companies. The AmTrust Group's business model focuses on achieving targeted returns and profitable
growth with the careful management of risk. The AmTrust Group pursues these goals through geographic and product
diversification, as well as, an in-depth understanding of its insured exposure. The product mix primarily includes workers'
compensation, extended warranty and other commercial property/casualty insurance products, including title insurance.
Workers' compensation and property/casualty insurance policyholders in the United States are generally small and
middle market businesses. Extended warranty customers are manufacturers, distributors and retailers of commercial
and consumer products. The AmTrust Group has also built a strong and growing distribution of extended warranty and
specialty risk products, including liability and other property/casualty products, in Europe.

Principal activity

The Company continues to write general insurance business as its principal activity, primarily in the following lines of
business: warranty; legal expenses, professional indemnity; accident and health; property and mortgage and credit. The
Company has taken actions over the last couple of years to exit certain lines of business which failed to achieve the
Company’s target profitability and/or conduct reporting requirements. As a result, the Company’s business mix in terms
of lines of business and geographical exposure has changed during the course of the year and will continue to do so, as
is described in detail within the ‘Review of the business and future developments’ section.

Review of the business and future developments

The Company's core strategy is to generate sustainable profitability by writing selected speciality lines, as an integrated
part of the AmTrust Group of insurance businesses, but with stand-alone resilience as a separate, regulated legal entity.
The Company operates in sub-lines of large lines of business that require detailed knowledge and a sophisticated level
of underwriting. :

Over the last couple of years, the Company has been executing on its ‘Grow/Fix/Exit/Brexit’ initiative targeted at:

e Improving the profitability of its business in five core lines (warranty, legal expenses, professional indemnity,
property and mortgage and credit) and growing these lines;

¢ Exiting lines of business or coverholders which have not achieved its target profitability measures (i.e. structural
defects, liability and certain coverholders in legal expenses and warranty); and

e Transferring its European business to other AmTrust Group companies as a result of Brexit (including the
medical malpractice business).

The Directors’ aim is to implement a strategy of maximising the Company's overali return on equity while diversifying its
lines of business so that no one class represents a significant driver of income and profitability. This will result in a diverse
range of non-correlated insurance products and help to provide protection against volatilities in insurance risk.

On the exited lines of business, Management will seek risk transfer options to bring finality to this business as quickly as
possible and reduce the potential for additional deterioration in the Company’s results from this legacy portfolio.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Review of the business and future developments (continued)

The Company maintained its whole account quota share arrangements in 2021. A 50% quota share with an ‘AA-’
Standard and Poors (‘S&P’) rated global third party reinsurer was renewed for all new business written with effect from
1 July 2021 with the exception of business related to mortgage and credit which has its own third party quota share
arrangements and certain lines of business in which the Company is in the process of exiting. The Company also
continues to buy excess of loss protection on most lines of business.

Lines of business
Warranty

The Company offers a variety of warranty products including, but not limited to, motor, electrical device, home emergency
and plant and equipment. The portfolio is balanced between coverholder-managing general agent (‘MGA’) arrangements
and reinsurance/contractual liability insurance policies (‘CLIPs’); taking into account the conduct and compliance
resources required to manage the business effectively. The majority of the portfolio is dedicated to consumer
programmes, typically where the general public are purchasing insurable products from the Company’s clients. The
Company also offers warranties on commercial plant and machinery, where customers are small or large businesses.

Profitability in sub-segments has been steady, supported by receipt and analysis of detailed performance information.
The Company’s aim is to manage a smaller number of higher premium accounts, targeting a balanced portfolio mix in -
relation to short- and long-term risks.

Legal expenses

The Company’s legal expenses portfolio consists of a wide variety of products that fall into before the event (‘BTE),
commercial and personal after the event (‘ATE’) and litigation funding business segments. The Company predominately
utilises coverholder-MGAs to write BTE legal expenses business; and mainly distributes directly or via brokers without
delegation for ATE and Litigation Funding business. These products are primarily targeted at consumer and commercial
customers; however, circa 25-30% of the consumer BTE business is through inwards reinsurance. Distribution varies for
different products and is primarily focused in the UK, Canada and Australian market.

This business continued to be a specific area of growth for the 2021 year and will continue to be so for the foreseeable
future; and as an ‘A-' rated insurer, the Company is well positioned to take advantage of this market. The Company has
a broad range of experience and skills that have allowed the development of innovative solutions suited to its current
customer base. Across segments, the Company’s strategic objective is to be the leading provider, ensuring competitive
edge is maintained through quality underwriting, providing a bespoke rather than commoditised service where possible
and ensuring distribution is well considered.

The markets for BTE and commercial ATE are highly competitive, whilst the personal ATE market has consolidated
following government reforms.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Lines of business (continued)
Professional indemnity (‘PI’)

The Company's Pl product protects professionals against their legal liability for claims arising as a result of negligence
during the course of carrying out their professional duties. The Company distributes Pl through brokers, binders and an
AmTrust Group owned MGA, Collegiate Management Services Limited. These products almost excluswely target UK
SMEs. The Company targets UK domiciled companies.

Profitability in one sub-segment of this line of business, the solicitors’ book, was impacted by an increase in buyer funded
development claims (mostly from the 2015, 2016 & 2018 underwriting years) which related primarily to two firms of
solicitors. The issues related to these claims are not prevalent in the remainder of the Company's other business in this
class. The Company has been focused on growing the Pl book as rates have hardened considerably in the last years
presenting opportunities, albeit paying appropriate attention to the conduct risk associated with the SME client base. The
Company has continued to improve the renewal book through underwriting and risk selection.

Property

The Company offers a wide range of specialist property insurance products, ali of which are currently underwritten by
coverholder-MGAs. Although the Company remains a small player in the overall property insurance sector, it is
established in a number of smaller sub-segments of the market such as caravan, residential let (commercial and retail),
tenants’ contents, and unoccupied property insurance.

The Company also writes commercial property insurance covering predominantly small to medium size commercial
premises and targeted at a mixture of retail and SME commercial customers. The Company is, however, close to
launching products on a Direct / Reinsurance basis writing predominately excess of loss commercial Property business
for Corporate Customers.

The majority of the Company'’s customers are based in the UK with currently only 2 Coverholders having no UK business.

The sub-segments of caravan and residential let are underserved niches in the market that have relatively low
competition and have proved to be consistently profitable. The Company’s strategic aim in the property insurance market
is to grow its presence in existing niche segments where it operates (e.g. unoccupied, caravan) paying appropriate
attention to the conduct risk associated with its client base.

Mortgage and credit (M&C’)

The Company’s M&C products protect banks, building societies and consumers. The Company transacts the mortgage
products directly; whilst the credit products are provided in conjunction with delegated partners through brokers. Starting
in 2021, mortgage products were transacted through a newly created AmTrust Group MGA, Qualis U.K. Limited. The
Company'’s target mortgage insurance channels are mainly small to medium-sized banks and building societies in the
UK and globally through reinsurance contracts in non-EEA countries. The Company’s target credit customers are
consumers within the UK purchasing income protection products.

Profitability in sub-segments has been steady. Because of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company
reduced overall production within 'the mortgage insurance segment whilst consolidating within the credit segment
applying pricing corrections.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Lines of business (continued)
Accident and health (‘A&H’)

The Company offers a wide range of products that sit within the A&H/supplemental health insurance area including
Private Medical Insurance, Dental Insurance plus Group Personal Accident and Business Travel cover. In 2021, the
Company distributed A&H products through coverholder-MGAs directly and via wholesale brokers. The Company also
wrote quota share treaty and excess of loss facultative reinsurance.

The Company offers a suite of A&H products which allows the coverholder-MGAs to match products with clear customer
needs in niche health related markets. Many of these niches arise due to changing and reducing levels of state health
provision. Within these niches, the Company offers products in the more attractive segment risks based on incidence
and severity, within a clearly defined risk appetite.

The Company wrote A&H programs in the UK plus international reinsurance placed in London, and Europe. In 2020 the
Company moved its new and renewal business in EEA countries to AmTrust International Underwriters Designated
Activity Company (‘AlU’), due to Brexit. The Company also took the decision to exit Middle Eastern Medical Reinsurance
and subscale coverholders that resulted in the written premiums for this class of business being reduced.

In the 4™ quarter of 2021, the Company decided to exit from the A&H line. The Company is intensely focused on ensuring
an orderly transition of accounts off AEL paper with customer outcomes to front of mind. The Company will work closely
with its clients and Conduct team to achieve beneficial outcomes for its partners and their customers.

Medical malpractice

The Company no longer underwrites medical malpractice. The Company completed a Part VIl FSMA 2000 transfer of
its remaining medical malpractice business to AmTrust Assicurazioni (‘AA’} in July 2020 and has no further exposure to
this class of business. Business written in the Company in 2020 was limited to renewals and extensions of contracts with
existing hospitals and policies for smaller associations and individual doctors.

Surety (included in Note 8 under the Run-off heading)

The Company participates in reinsurance inwards business from Latin America (‘LATAM’). In line with the Company's
risk appetite both quota share and excess of loss reinsurance is utilised to protect the account. The account is overseen
by a professional team including lawyers, economists and accountants. The new LATAM business is classified under
the M&C business line. '

Structural defects (included in Note 8 under the Run-off heading)
The Company elected to exit the structural defects market in 2019 and issued notice of termination on its remaining

contracts. All accounts were terminated during 2019 except for one, which terminated in March 2020. This is long-tail
business with up to ten years cover, so the business will be in run-off up until 2030.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Performance review

In the year the Company made a loss after tax of £(1,621),000 (2020 - loss of £12,513,000). This loss was primarily

driven by:

¢ Loss on the technical account for general business of £(41),000 (2020 — loss of £29,441,000), which is

described below; and

e A total loss on investments in bonds of £2,787,000 (2020 - return of £16,239,000), including realised losses of
£4,425,000 (2020 — gains of £7,924,000) and unrealised losses of £7,792,000 (2020 - £4,525,000) on sale of

investments.

The above profit/(loss) is after:

e Atotal return on its property and investments in subsidiary undertakings of £798,000 (2020 - loss of

£307,000).
Below is a table showing the ratios as at 31 December 2021 which the Directors consider to be key performance
indicators.
2021 2020
Income Statement
Decrease in gross written premium (6)% (17)%
Decrease in earned premium, net of reinsurance (9)% (25)%
Technical account loss (£'000) ] (41) (29,441)
Net claims ratio (a) 53% 66%
Combined ratio (b) 100% 114%
Statement of Financial Position .
Total assets (£'000) 1,257,011 1,148,444
Total shareholder’s funds (£'000) 216,107 200,388
Investments (£'000) 428,792 373,899
Solvency Overview
Solvency capital requirement (‘SCR’) coverage — 2020 restated 145% 127%
Minimum capital requirement (MCR') coverage — 2020 restated 389% 415%

(a) The net claims ratio is the percentage of claims costs incurred in relation to the premiums earned, net of reinsurance.

(b) The combined ratio is the percentage of technical charges in relation to the premiums earned, net of reinsurance.

Gross written premium was lower than the prior year at £324,207,000 (2020 - £346,099,000) due to the transfer of
business for certain European Countries to AlU in July 2020 as a result of Brexit and the lower volume of Premiums

‘written in discontinued operations.

Earned premium, net of reinsurance, was lower than the prior year at £189,602,000 (2020 - £208,855,000) due to the

impact of the part VIl transfer to AlU.

The Company’s net claims ratio has fallen during the year to 53% (2020 - 66%) primarily due to an improved loss
experience in core business lines. Reserve strengthening in 2021 for Accident & Health and Legacy Lines which are in

run off, was offset by reserve releases in Warranty, Property and Professional Indemnity in 2021.

The Company’s combined ratio has fallen during the year to 100% (2020 - 114%) due to a lower loss ratio in the year.

The Plan for 2022 has renewed focus on lines of business which will enhance the overall portfolio’s performance.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company continues to be aware of the business risks it faces. In common with other insurers, the Company's
earnings can be significantly impacted by unpredictable events and circumstances, latent claims developments and
judicial developments.

The Company manages these risks and uncertainties by operating and maintaining a detailed risk analysis process. This
process involves the application of a structured, consistent and continuous process across the Company for identifying,
assessing and deciding upon a suitable response to the threats and opportunities that affect the successful achievement
of the Company’s business objectives.

The principal risks from general insurance business arise from inaccurate pricing, fluctuations in the timing, frequency
and severity of claims compared to expectations, inadequate reinsurance protection and inadequate reserving.

The Company writes a large amount of premium income through agents who are granted authority to accept risks on
the Company's behalf. All delegations of underwriting authority are strictly controlled. However, there is no absoiute
guarantee that an agent will always comply with the terms of the authority, which could expose the Company to
unforeseen losses.

The Company establishes reserves for unpaid claims, defence costs and related expenses to cover its ultimate liability
in respect of both reported claims and incurred but not reported claims ('IBNR'). The Company's reserving procedures
utilise strict actuarial methodologies that are subject to peer review. However, the risk of the ultimate liabilities being
materially different from the amounts currently reserved cannot be entirely eliminated.

The Company also faces operational risk. This is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes,
personnel, systems or from external events.

Group risk is defined as the risk of any other group company causing a substantial failure in the ability of the Company
to meet its reguiatory and legal requirements. These risks are managed through the implementation of effective corporate
governance structures, on-going monitoring of the AmTrust Group credit ratings and financial support through the Net
Worth Maintenance Agreement (‘NWMA') with AmTrust Financial Services Incorporated (‘AFSI’).

Information on the management of financial risk by the Company is disclosed in note 6 to the Financial Statements. In
particular, the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, spread risk and currency risk are
separately disclosed in that note.

Given that the Company’s insurance portfolio is diversified across five lines of business, and that these lines do not
demonstrate a high level of correlation in performance, the Directors believe that this helps balance the exposures to
volatility from both a top line (gross written premium) and bottom line (technical account) perspective. Management
conducted a review of the Company'’s insurance portfolio risks with a deep dive analysis of exposed subsegments. The
Company did not identify any segments of the portfolio that represented a substantial challenge to the Company's
business model sustainability.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

The Directors assessed the exposure that there may be some near to mid-term impact on the Company’s financial,
liquidity and solvency positions from changes in the external environment. These impacts are based on forecasts
performed on the prior quarters’ data and projected results for a 36 month period.

As part of its 2022 Business Plan presented to the Board in December 2021, the Directors have performed several
sensitivity tests on a capital forecast. Also, in the Company’s Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA’), the Directors
consider further risk scenarios that could impact the entity’s solvency. The assessment of the potential causes for all the
stress scenarios events are not anticipated to result in loss of such magnitude as to reduce Solvency Ratio to below
100% on a medium to long term basis and management have developed a robust Recovery Plan that identified the
capital levers that could be utilised during times of stress. The scenarios considered covered a broad range of risks and
are detailed in the ORSA report for the legal entity.

The stress scenarios are designed to simulate major and catastrophic shocks to the assets and liabilities included in the
capital calculations and the outcome is considered before the impact of any management actions to mitigate these
effects. The Directors will continue to monitor the Solvency Ratio, as part of its Risk Appetite Statement assessments
on a quarterly basis at the Risk & Compliance Committee.

The shareholder is committed to support the company in the event of additional capital being required and the company
has a Net Worth Maintenance agreement in place with the shareholder, covering the period up to 31 of December 2022.
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Section 172 statement

it is the duty of the Directors to protect the sustainability of the Company, as well as, the best interests of its various
stakeholders. These stakeholders include:

Policyholders;

Coverholders;

Regulators and other Government agencies;

Suppliers;

Employees;

Communities and the environment in which the Company operates;
Other AmTrust Group companies; and

The ultimate shareholder, Evergreen Parent GP, LLC.

Therefore, in making key decisions the Directors and Management review and challenge the potential impact of
recommended actions to reach an agreed executable plan designed to balance the interests of all impacted parties.

In order to achieve this objective, the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1) (a) to (f) of the
Companies Act 2006 by taking the following interests into consideration where applicable:

Policyholders — delivering an insurance product designed to benefit the insured at a cost-effective premium by
ensuring that both the Company and the coverholders who underwrite on the Company's behalf comply with all
FCA mandated customer conduct rules. Other considerations with regard to policyholders include: maintaining
high service standards for customer claims and complaints received and processed either through the
Company's own employees or its service providers, setting appropriate liquidity and capital targets to ensure the
Company remains in a position to honour all eligible claims as and when they fall due over the life of the policies;
and facilitating a reasonable level of competition in the local marketplace to ensure prospective policyholders
have access to adequate insurance coverage where required.

Coverholders — sustaining a consistent suite of insurance products desired by the marketplace with competitive
terms and conditions. Other considerations with regard to coverholders include offering a well-designed and
managed delegated underwriting system and maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct.
Regulators and other Government agencies — ensuring long-term sustainability of the Company through the
adherence to proper stand-alone governance practices and conduct rules, maintenance of appropriate solvency
and liquidity positions in accordance with the Solvency Il Directive and compliance with all local regulations and
tax requirements. In addition, facilitating a reasonable level of competition in the local marketplace to ensure
prospective policyholders have access to adequate insurance coverage where required.

Suppliers — establishing trading relationships on fair and reasonable terms based on local market norms and
ensuring clear and timely communication of any relevant business changes which might impact the Company’s
trading relationship or ability to fully honour its commitments to them under these arrangements.

Employees — the Directors consider the Company’s employees to be one of their most important assets and
actively work to solicit their input and consider their views and interests in all of the Company’s decision making.
This is achieved through:

o Fostering a culture of openness and inclusivity where employees feel comfortable and are encouraged to
share their insights and opinions on issues facing the Company;

o Establishing various forums to share information with the employees and solicit their feedback and
concerns. A few examples of this include the publication on the Company’s intranet site of all policies, the
Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (‘ORSA’) report and Business Plan, as well as, conducting Town
Hall Meetings hosted by the CEO on at least a quarterly basis where Management and employees can
discuss the financial and business resuits and major issues facing the Company;

o Conducting employee surveys. In 2021, the Company conducted an employee survey to solicit feedback
from all employees on an anonymous basis addressing specific topics such as the Company’s culture,
leadership and engagement and treatment of employees;

o Conducting exit interviews for employees leaving the Company and sharing this feedback with
Management; and

o Human Resources regularly participating in the Company’s Executive Committee Meetings and Board
and Board Committee Meetings, where appropriate.
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Section 172 statement (continued)

In addition, the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in an annual discretionary bonus programme.
The determination of the amounts eligible to be distributed as part of this bonus programme (the ‘Bonus Pool’)
has two components, business performance versus the approved business plan and performance of the
Company against agreed goals during the period. The allocation of the Bonus Pool to each eligible individual
employee is based on the employee’s individual contribution towards achieving their goals. These individual
employee goals are derived such that the employee contributes towards the Company achieving its overall
goals.

e Communities and environment — ensuring the Company acts as a good corporate citizen within the
communities it serves and offers products which promote environmentally conscious actions from its insureds.

e Other AmTrust Group companies — where the Company uses services from or provides services to other
members of the AmTrust Group, establishing terms equivalent to those available to/from other similar suppliers
in the local marketplace. In addition, when underwriting insurance policies or procuring services from either third
parties or other AmTrust Group companies where the transaction results in additional benefits to the overall
AmTrust Group, ensuring the transaction is not outside of the Company’s agreed risk appetites.

o Ultimate shareholder — providing a long-term sustainable enterprise through which the AmTrust Group can
grow in its targeted insurance markets while maintaining capital self-sufficiency and future dividend capabilities.
In addition, maintaining the AmTrust Group’s reputation for high standards of business conduct.

e COVID-19 — Throughout the pandemic the Company has closely monitored developments, both internally and
across the wider market, and taken action where appropriate to ensure the above interests have been managed
effectively.

Approval

This report was approved on behalf of the Board.

A G Mas Murcia
Director

Date: 8 April 2022
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Report of the Directors
The Directors present their report together with the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Directors

The current Directors of the Company are shown on page 1. Since 1 January 2021 until the date of this report, the
following changes to the Board have occurred. :

Name Date of appointment
A Bulley 1 May 2021

P Fernandes 7 March 2022

P Goddard 1 April 2022

Name Date of resignation
S Garner 7 March 2022

R | Stansbury 6 April 2022

As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force under which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Directors,
to the extent permitted by law and the Company's Articles of Association, in respect of all losses arising out of, or in
connection with, the execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors of the Company.

Going concern

The Company has considerable financial resources and a balanced book of business which is consistent with recent
prior periods. The Directors have also considered future performance through the production of a 3-year business plan
which again reflects positive results and further demonstrates the confidence the Directors have in the Company's
continuing status as a going concern.

Management prepares a number of risk assessment documents which are reviewed by the Board and shared with the
Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) as appropriate. These documents also consider the Company’s responses to
mitigate these risks.

The Directors have evaluated the results of the assessments conducted by Management, including stresses as
described in the 'Principal risks and uncertainties' section of the Strategic Report, and believe that the going concern
basis of preparing the Financial Statements is appropriate.

Dividends

No dividends were paid during the year (2020 - £121,951,000). The Directors do not recommend payment of a final
dividend.

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year (2020 - £Nil).
Financial instruments

During the year the Company held financial instruments. Details about these are shown in note 7 of the Financial
Statements.

Branches outside the UK

The Company has a branch in Italy with no insurance operations.

11
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Energy and carbon emissions

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company used the following quantity of emissions of carbon dioxide
equivalent, resulting from the UK activities of the Company and the UK quantity of energy consumed in kWh:

Carbon dioxide emissions

Energy consumed

(Tonnes) (kWh)
2021 2020 2021 2020
The combustion of gas 0 0 0 0
Purchase of electricity 61.41 89.64 289,243 350,716
Total 61.41 89.64 289,243 350,716

During the year the Company has taken the below measures to increase its energy efficiency where possible. The
Company is still in the process of evaluating sustainability targets and goals to create active measures to achieve.

¢ During periods of national government mandated lockdown, or advised “work from home” periods, active steps
were taken to direct the switch off of equipment for long periods of time when not required which resulted in
savings consumption.

e Suppliers and contractors were directed to hold off on or decrease their planned maintenance activity which
resulted in less energy being consumed in buildings.

There were significantly less emissions and consumption overall in 2021 compared to 2020. The Pandemic impacted

office use and consumption for 9 months of 2020 while it impacted the full year for 2021.

The carbon dioxide emissions and energy consumption from the activities of the Company were calculated based on the
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol. The conversion factors used are The Department for Environment, Food and Rural

Affairs (DEFRA) 2021.

The following ratios help explain how the company’s annual emissions relate to the company's activities:

Square Metres
Per Office Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 | May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 | Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 [ Nov-21 Dec-21
Etec KWh 21347 | 19284 | 1848.4 | 17799 | 1839.3 | 18200 | 18821 | 18821 | 20082 | 21495 2981 3277
TheL(;g‘é':V_ard' Elec tCO2 0.45 0.41 0.39 0.38 0.39 0.39 0.40 0.40 0.43 0.46 0.63 0.70
209sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
m2/month 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209
Elec kWh 9157 7390 8261 8693 9466 | 11244 | 10771 | 13429 | 10899 | 11958 | 12400 | 11s92
Exchequer | Electco2 19 16 1.8 18 2.0 2.4 2.3 2.9 23 2.5 2.6 25
3832sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 o
m2/month 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832
Elec kWh 14904 | 13135 | 13484 | 10652 9781 8922 9585 9514 7733 | 16105 | 12170 | 12569
Nottingham - [ Elec tCO2 3.16 2.79 2.86 2.26 2.08 1.89 2.04 2.02 1.64 3.42 2.58 2.67
1506sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
m2/month 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506
Entity Total tC0o2 5.56 4.77 5.01 4.49 4.48 4.67 4.72 5.27 4.34 6.41 5.85 5.85
Entity Total m2/month 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547
Intensity Ratio | IR 0.0010 | 0.0009 | 0.0008 | 0.0008 | 0.0008 | 0.0008 | 0.0009 [ 0.0010 { 0.0008 | 0.0012 | 0.0011 | 0.0011
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Energy and carbon emissions (continued)

This can be compared to the following ratios from financial year 2020:

The intensity ratio is the number of tonnes of carbon dioxide per metre squared of office space.

Disclosure of information to auditor

Square Metres .
Per Office Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 | May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 | Aug-20 | Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
Eleckwh | 21347 | 19281 | 18484 | 1779.9 | 1839.3 | 18200 | 18821 | 18821 | 20082 | 21495 2981 3277
TheCouvard. | lectcoa | o045 | 041] 039| o038 | o039| 03| o040] o040 osa3| os6| uves| o070
209sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
m2/month 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209 209
Elec KWh 9157 7390 8261 8693 9466 | 11244 | 10771 | 13429 | 10699 | 11958 | 12400 | 11692
Bxchequer | Electc0? 1.9 1.6 1.8 18 2.0 24 23 2.9 23 2.5 26 25
3832sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
m2/month 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 3832 | 3832 3832 | 3832 3832 3832 3832
EleckWh | 14904 | 13135 | 13484 | 10652 9781 8922 | 9585 9514 | 7733 | 16105 | 12170 | 12569
Nottingham - | Elec tCO2 3.16 2.79 2.86 2.26 2.08 1.89 2.04 2.02 1.64 3.42 2.58 2.67
1506sqm Gas kWh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
m2/month 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1506 1508
Entity Total 1C02 5.56 477 5.01 4.49 4.48 4.67 472 5.27 4.34 6.41 5.85 5.85
Entity Total m2/month 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 5547 | 5547 5547 | 5547 5547 5547 5547
Intensity Ratio | IR 0.0010 | 0.0009 | 0.0009 | 0.0008 | o0.0008 | 0.0008 | 0.0008 | 0.0010 | 0.0008 | 0.0012 | 0.0011 | 0.0011
AEL IR Chart
0.0025
0.0020
o
Ll
& 0.0015
>
&
4 2020
£ 0.0010
£ m2021
0.0005 ——]
0.0000
Jan Feb

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, as far as they are aware, there is no
relevant audit information, being information required by the auditor in connection with their report, of which the
Company’s auditor is unaware and each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to
- make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that

information.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Independent auditor

In accordance with Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG
LLP will therefore continue in office.

On behalf of the Board

A G Mas Murcia
Director

Date: 8 April 2022

14



AmTrust Europe Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Strategic Report, the
Report of the Directors and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Report of the Directors and the Financial Statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Repomng Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In
preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
o make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

e assess the Company’s ability to contlnue asa going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

+ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report and a Report
of the Directors that complies with that law and those regulations.
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Independent
auditor’'s report

to the members of AmTrust Europe Limited

1. Ouropinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of
AmTrust Europe Limited (“the Company”) for the
year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the
Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement
of Changes in Equity, and the related notes,
including the accounting policies in note 3.

in our opinion the financial statements:

— give atrue and fair view of the state of
Company's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and
of its loss for the year then ended;

— have been properly prepared in accordancewith
UK accounting standards, including FRS 102
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in
the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

— have been prepared in accordance withthe
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
{UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities are
described below. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion
is consistent with our report to the Audit
committee.

Basis for opinion (cont.) '

We were first appointed as auditor by the directors on 7
June 2016 prior to the company becoming a public
interest entity. The period of totaluninterrupted
engagement is for the six financial years ended 31
December 2021. We have fulfiled our ethical
responsibilities under, and we remain independent of
the Company in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as
applied to public interest entities. No non-audit services
prohibited by that standard were provided.

Materiality: £2.8m (2020: £2.5m )
financial . .
sltaterrlwents asa 0.86% of grosswritten premiums
(2020: 0.72% of gross written
whole .
premiums)
Key audit matters vs 2020
Recurring risks  Valuation of gross <>
incurred but not
reported (IBNR)
reserves
Accuracy of earnings <>

on premiums and
Valuation of unearned
premium from all lines
of business with non-
standard earning
patterns




2. Key audit matters: including our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are thosematters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and
include the most significant assessedrisks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. We
summarise below the key audit matters (unchanged from 2020), in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinion above,
together with our key audit procedures to address thosematters and, as requiredfor public interest entities, our resultsfromthoseprocedures.
The key audit matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose of,
our audit of the financial statementsas a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidentalto that opinion, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The risk Our response

Valuation of grossincurred Subjective valuation:
butnotreported reserves
(IBNR)

(Gross Claims Outstanding,
including IBNR of £437m;
2020: £390m)

liability for the Company.

Valuation of gross incurred but not reported
reserves is highly judgemental, and requires a
number of assumptions tobe made that have
high estimation uncertainty and can have
material impacts on the valuation. Key
assumptions and inputs into the reserving
process generally include initial expectedloss
ratios, development patterns based on
triangulated data, large loss movements and
allowance for recent experience.

Refer to pages 29 and 30
(note 3 accounting policy)
and page 57 (note 24 —
Claims outstanding).

Certain areas of the IBNR balance contain
greateruncertainty, particularly thoserelating
toLegal Expense and StructuralDefects
classes of business.

In addition to the long tail nature of the
business, the Commerciatand Personatafter
the event ('ATE)' class, uses different
methods of reservingfrom other classes due
tothe nature of the business.

Additionally, management applies arisk
margin over actuarialbest estimates
commensuratetotheestimationuncertainty
within the reservingprocess.The application
of margin is judgemental and subject to
potentialmanagement bias.

The effect of these matters is that, aspart of
our risk assessment, we determined that
gross IBNR reserves has a high degree of
estimationuncertainty, witha potentialrange
of reasonable outcomes greaterthan our
materiality for the financial statements asa
whole, and possibly many times of that
amount. The financialstatements (note6)
disclose the sensitivity estimated by the
Company.

Gross claims outstandingrepresent thelargest

Our controls procedures included:

— Control design and observation: With the support of
our IT specialists, we tested the design and
implementation of key controls overtheclaimshandling
andreserving processes. This also included key
controls, such as, peer review of actuarialireserving
output and review of booked reserves againstuttimate
loss ratios (“ULR") as approved by the Reserving
Committee, and controls over reviews of thebooked
reserves versusapproved ULRs.

With the involvement of our actuarialspecialists, our
substantive approach focused on:

— Independent re-performance: We performed
independent re-projections of allclasses of business and
compmaredthesewith managementestimatestoassess
their reasonableness. OQurre-projections covered90% of
gross claimsoutstanding and performedstress testing
on Structural Defects Fire & Safety Insurance claims
representing an additional 8.7% of the classes of
business.

— Oursector experience and benchmarking: We
assessedandchallenged the selection of actuarial
methodologies andassumptions usedinthe valuationof
gross IBNR by performing procedures such as
benchmarkingmanagement’s methodology tothose
used by other similar insurers, assessingsensitivity to
key assumptions and taking into account the rising
inflation across globaleconomies.

— Weassessedreserving strength, inparticular thelevel
of margin held to manage uncertainties for
appropriatenessandconsistency withprior years with
referencetoour independently determinedreasonable
range and our professional judgement.

In addition to the above, we also performed the following
procedures:

- Test of data: Our substantive procedures involved
testingthe completeness of claims andpremiums data,
including the data outside the underwriting system in
relation to Structural Defects and Professional
Indemnity. This data is usedby our actuaries intheir re-
projections and analysis.We voucheda sampleof data
back to supporting documentation as this forms the
inputs used by our actuariesintheir claims IBNR work
above.

- Assessing transparency: We assessed the
appropriateness of theaccountingpolicy anddisclosures
relating to technical provisions — gross claims
outstanding including gross incurred but not reported
reserves.

We performedthe tests aboverather thanseekingtorely
on any of the Company's controls becausethenature of the
balance is such that we would expect to obtain audit
evidence primarily through the detailed procedures
described.

Our Results

We found the valuation of incurred but not reported
reserves tobe acceptable(2020result: acceptable).
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2. Key audit matters: including our assessment of risks of material misstatement (cont.)

The risk Our response

Accuracy of earnings on
premiums and Valuation of
unearned premium from all lines
of business with non-standard
earing patterns

Subjective valuation:

In the context of earned premium this

risk can arise through the application of
earnings patterns in order to determine
the extent of the written premium that
(Earned premiums, net of should be deferred to future periods.

reinsurance, £190m; 2020: £208m) . . .
The selection of earning patterns is

judgemental as it represents
management'’s assessment of the likely
pattern of loss emergence. The diversity
of business classes and nature of
exposures underwritten by the Company
makes this particularly subjective. In
particular, this includes classes such as
ATE and Structural Defects where the
premiums arenot earned linearly over the
policy period.

Refer to page 29 (accounting policy).

We define “non-standard earning
patterns” as earning patterns other than
those earning linearly over policy periods.

The effect of these matters is that, as
part of our risk assessment, we
determined that earned premiums for
non-standard lines of business has a high
degree of estimation uncertainty, with a
potential range of reasonable outcomes
greater than our materiality for the
financial statements as a whole, and
possibly many times thatamount.

Our control procedures included:

— Control design and operation: We tested
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls within the
underwriting processes including controls
around the accuracy of data input into the
policy systems.

With the involvement of our actuarial specialists,
our substantive approach focused on:

- Evaluation of eamings patterns: We
assessed the reasonableness of theearnings
profile selected, in particular for ATE and
Structural Defects. Our procedures included
assessing whether the selected earning
patterns remain reasonable given the pattern
of incidence of risk.

- Historical comparisons: We assessed the
appropriateness of the application of
assumptions over the estimate of cancelled,
settled or lapsed policies in relation to ATE
policies as compared to the entity’ own
experience.

In addition, we also perform ed the following
procedures:

— Re-performance: Werecalculated 100% of
the unearned premiumreserves using a
com bination of data and analytical procedures
and manual recalculations to assess the
accuracy of the unearned premiums reserves.

- Test of data: Our substantive procedures in
verifying attributes relevant to the earning of
premiums and unearned premiums re-
calculation noted above involved vouching a
sample of written premiums to bank
statements, information from brokers and
policy documentation.

- Assessing transparency: We assessed the
appropriateness of the accounting policy and
disclosures relating to accuracy and valuation
of premiums from all lines of business with
non-standard earning patterns.

Our results

We found the accuracy and valuation of earned
premiums from all lines of business with non-
standard earning patterns to be acceptable (2020
result: acceptable).

KPING)




.. . . Gross written premiums
3. Our application of materiality and an overviewof g5, (2020: £346m)

the scope of our audit

Materiality for the financial statements as a whole was
set at £2.8m (2020: £2.5m), determined with reference
to a benchmark of total gross written premiums of
which it represents 0.86% (2020: 0.72% of total gross
written premiums).

We consider gross written premium to be the most
appropriate benchmark as it provides a more stable
measure year on year than profit beforetaxand is a key
focus and metric of the Company, the directors, the
shareholders and other users of the Company's financial
statements.

In line with our audit methodology, our procedures on
individual account balances and disclosures were BGross written premiums
perform ed to a lower threshold, performance ® Materiality

materiality, soas to reduce to an acceptable level the

risk that individually immaterial misstatements in

individual account balances add up to a materialamount

across the financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality was setat 65% (2020: 65%) of

materiality for the financial statements as a whole,

which equates to £1.8m (2020: £1.6m). We applied this

percentage in our determination of performance

materiality based on the level of identified control

deficiencies and the number of misstatements during

the prior period.

We agreed to report to the Audit committee any
corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements
exceeding £0.14m (2020: £0.12m), in addition to other
identified misstatements that warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.

Our audit of the Company was undertaken to the
materiality level specified above.

The scope of the audit work perform ed was
predominately substantive as we placed limited reliance
upon the Company’s internal contro! over financial
reporting. )

We engaged KPMG US to perform general IT controls in
relation to the Company’s systems which are centrally
managed by the ultimate parent company in the US. We
evaluated the scope of the work and the information
reported back to ensure that it addressed the risks
relevant to our audit.

KpinG!

Materiality
£2.8m (2020: £2.5m)

£2.8m

Whole financial
staternents matenality
(2020: £2.5m)

£1.8m

Whole financial
statements performance
materiality (2020:£1.6m)

£0.14m

Misstatements reported to the
Audit committee (2020:
£0.12m)




4. Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on
the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease its operations, and as
they have concluded that the Company's financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over its ability to
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approvalof the financial statements (“the going
concern period”).

We used our knowledge of the Company, its industry
and the general economic environment in which it
operates to identify the inherent risks in its business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the
Company's financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period. The risk that
was considered most likely to adversely affect the
Company’s avaitable financial resources over this period
was the valuation of gross IBNR given the estimation
and judgement involved in setting these reserves.

We considered whether this risk could plausibly affect
the liquidity, profitability or solvency in the going
concern period by performing our sensitivity analysis
taking account of severe, but plausible adverse effects
that could arise from this individually and collectively.

We considered whether the going concern disclosure in
note 2 to the financial statements gives a full and
accurate description of the directors’ assessment of
going concern, including the identified risk,
dependencies and sensitivities.

kPG

Our conclusions based on this work:

— we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements isappropriate;

— we have not identified, and concur with the directors’
assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the
going concern period; and

— we found the going concern disclosure in note 2 to be
acceptable. :

However, as we cannot predict all future events or
conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were
reasonable at the time they were made, the above
conclusions are not a guarantee that the Company will
continue in operation.




5. Fraudand breaches of laws and regulations —ability
to detect

Identifyingand responding to risks of material
misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud
("fraud risks ") we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide
an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

- Enquiring of directors, the Audit committee, internal
audit, legal and risk, and inspection of policy
documentation as to the Company’s high-level policies
and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including
the internal audit function, and the Company’s channel
for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

- Reading Board committee, Risk committee, Reserving
committee, Remuneration committee and Audit
committee minutes.

- Considering remuneration incentive schemes and
performance targets for management and directors.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the
audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account
possible pressures to meet profit targets, we perform
procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls, in particular the risk that the Company's
management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting
estimates and judgements such as accuracy of earnings on
premiums and valuation of unearned premium from all lines
of business with non-standard earning patterns. We also
identified a fraud risk relating to the valuation of the
incurred but not reported reserves. Further details in
respect of our procedures are set out in the key audit
matters disclosures in section 2 of this report.

KpPiE

We also perform ed procedures including:

— Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test
based on risk criteria and com paring the identified entries to
supporting documentation. These included those approved
by individuals who are not authorised, those posted and
approved by the same user, and journals with certain
keywords.

—Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

Identifying and responding to risks of material
misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could
reasonably be expected to have a material effecton the
financial statements from our general commercial and
sector experience, and through discussion with the those
charged with governance and management (as required by
auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company's
regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with
those charged with governance and other management the
policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and
regulations.

As the Company is regulated, our assessment of risks
involved gaining an understanding of the control
environment including the entity’'s procedures for
com plying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and regulations
throughout our team and remained alert to any indications
of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the
financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that
directly affect the financial statements including financial
reporting legislation (including related companies
legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation
legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the
related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in
the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company's
license to operate. We identified the following areas as
those most likely to have such an effect: regulatory capital
and liquidity legislation, GDPR legislation, anti-bribery,
corruption and fraud, employment law, money laundering
and certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial and regulated nature of the Company's activities
and its legal form. Auditing standards limit the required
audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these
laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other
management and inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational
regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant
correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.




Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or
breaches of law orregulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even
though we have properly planned and perform ed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the
further rem oved non-compliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, theless likely the inherently limited procedures
required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk
of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not
responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraudand
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws
and regulations.

. We have nothing toreport on the strategic report
and the directors’report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and

the directors’ report. Qur opinion on the financial

statements does not cover those reports and we do not

express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic reportand the

directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based

on our financial statements audit work, the information

therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the

financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely

on that work:

— we have not identified material misstatements in those
reports;

— in our opinion the information given in the strategic
report and the directors'report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements;and

— in our opinion those reports have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act2006.

. We have nothing toreport on the other matters on
which we arerequired toreport by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we arerequired to report
to you if, in our opinion:

— adequate accounting records have not been kept, or

returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

— the financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

— certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made; or

— we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

8. Respective responsibilities

Directors’responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page
15, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements including being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from materialmisstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assuranceis a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered materialif, individually or in aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users takenon the basis of the financial
statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the
FRC’'s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

. The purpose of our audit work and to whom weowe

our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’'s members, asa
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company's members those
matters we are required to statetothem in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Ben Priestley (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

8 April 2022
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Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Technical account — general business Note 2021 2020 2020 2020

Total Continuing Discontinued Total

operations operations
(Note 4)

£000 £'000 £000 £'000
Gross written premiums 8 324,207 313,751 32,348 346,099
Outward reinsurance premiums 8 (125,929) (134,019) (15,717) (149,736)
Net written premiums 198,278 179,732 16,631 196,363
Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums 25 (7,219) (4,807) 6,212 1,405
Change in the provision for unearned premiums, 25 (1,457) 11,513 (426) 11,087
reinsurers’ share
Change in net provision for unearned premiums (8,676) 6,706 5,786 12,492
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 189,602 186,438 22,417 208,855
Claims paid
- gross amount 24 159,201 150,592 44 497 195,089
- reinsurers’ share 24 (77,668) (66,925) (44,044) (110,969)
Net claims paid 81,533 83,667 453 84,120
Change in the provision for outstanding claims:
- gross amount 24 46,541 114,240 (29,555) 84,685
- reinsurers’ share 24 (26,857) (66,982) 36,383 (30,599)
Change in net provision for claims 19,684 47,258 6,828 54,086
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 101,217 130,925 7,281 138,206
Net operating expenses 10 88,426 78,524 21,566 100,090
Total technical charges 189,643 209,449 28,847 238,296
Balance on the technical account for general business 141! ‘23=01 1) 16,430! g29,441l
Non-Technical account — general business Note 2021 2020

£'000 £000

Balance on the general business technical account (41) (29,441)
Interest income 10,856 15,309
Rental income 520 . 617
Realised (losses)/gains on sale of investments (4,425) 7,924
Unrealised losses on investments (7,792) (4,525)
Interest expenses and charges (1,426) (2,469)
Unrealised losses on subsidiary undertakings (3,804) (54,903)
Revaluation gains/(losses) on investment property . 263 (2,845)
Revaluation gains/(losses) on tangible assets 71 (770)
Dividend income from subsidiary undertakings 3,748 57,595
Other income 58 66
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (1,972) (13,442)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities 13 351 929
Retained loss for the financial year (1,621) (12,513)

The notes on pages 27 to 59 form part of these Financial Statements.

23



AmTrust Europe Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Note 2021 2020

£000 £000

Loss for the financial year (1,621) (12,513)

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net 340 3,883
investments

~ Total comprehensive Erofit/!loss! for the year (1,281) (8,630)

The notes on pages 27 to 59 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2021

Note 2021 2020
£000 £000
Assets
Investments
Investment property 15 5174 4,911
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 16 - 3,314
Other financial investiments 17 423,618 365,674
' 428,792 373,899
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions
Provision for unearned premiums ’ 25 131,640 134,146
Claims outstanding 24 228,207 201,241
359,847 335,387
Debtors
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 18 245,463 203,633
Other debtors 19 9,112 8,708
Amounts owed by group undertakings 21 81,648 124,510
336,223 336,851
Other assets
Tangible assets 14 1,950 2,031
Cash at bank and in hand 62,050 32,734
. 64,000 34,765
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred acquisition costs 20 68,149 67,500
Prepayments - 42
68,149 67,542
Total assets 1,257,011 1,148,444
Liabilities
Capital and reserves .
Called up share capital 22 75,044 75,044
Share premium account : 23 11,642 11,642
Retained earnings 129,421 113,702
Total shareholder’s funds 216,107 200,388
Technical provisions — gross amount
Provision for unearned premiums 25 351,930 344,740
Claims outstanding 24 436,714 389,618
788,644 734,358
Creditors
Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 26 214,171 124,637
Other creditors including taxation and social security 27 11,262 65,022
Amounts owed to group undertakings 2,595 1,690
228,028 191,349
Accruals and deferred income 28 24,232 22,349
Total liabilities 1,040,904 948,056
Total equity and liabilities _ 1,257,011 1,148,444_

The notes on pages 27 to 59 form part of these Financial Statements. The Financial Statements were approved by the
Board and authorised for issue on 8 April 2022.

On behalf of the Board

A G Mas Murcia
Director - Registered company number 01229676
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Called-up Share
share premium = Retained Shareholder’s
capital reserve earnings ~ funds
£000 £°000 £°000 £000
Balance as at 1 January 2021 75,044 11,642 113,702 200,388
Loss for the year ' - - (1,621) (1,621)
Other comprehensive income - - 340 340
for the year
Additional paid in capital - - 17,000 17,000
Total comprehensive income - - 15,719 15,719
for the year '
Balance as at 31 December 75,044 " 11,642 129,421 216,107
2021 ‘
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Called-up Share
share premium Retained Shareholder’s
capital reserve earnings funds
£'000 £'000 £°000 £000
Balance as at 1 January 2020 75,044 11,642 264,359 351,045
Loss for the year - - (12,513) (12,513)
Other comprehensive income - - 3,883 3,883
for the year .
Dividends (121,951) (121,951)
Loss on insurance business (20,076) (20,076)
transferred to Group (Note 4)
Total comprehensive income - - (150,657) (150,657)
for the year
. Balance as at 31 December 75,044 11,642 113,702 200,388
2020

The notes on pages 27 to 59 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1

General information

The Company transacts general insurance business in the UK. The Company is a private company limited by
shares and is incorporated in England. The address of its registered office is Market Square House, St James's
Street, Nottingham, NG1 6FG.

Basis of preparation

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standards 102, ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland’ (‘FRS 102') and Financial Reporting Standard 103, ‘Insurance Contracts’ (‘FRS 103’), and
in compliance with the Large and Medium sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulation 2008
(*S12008/410’) relating to insurance companies and other requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The Company
has adopted all the amendments to FRS 102 that are effective from 1 January 2021 during the year. These did not
impact the Company.

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, as explained in note 2e, under the
historical cost accounting rules except for certain assets carried at market value as referenced in the principal
accounting policies as permitted by FRS 102, see note 7.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Exemption from preparing group consolidated financial statements

The Company availed itself of the exemption under Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 from preparing group
consolidated financial statements on the grounds that it is a wholly owned subsidiary. The Company and its
subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements of its intermediary parent company, AllL. The
consolidated financial statements of AlIL are publicly available from its registered address (see Note 31).

These Financial Statements therefore present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not

about its group.

b) Exemption from preparing a cash flow statement

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 102, paragraph 1.12(b), from preparing a cash
flow statement on the grounds that it is a wholly owned subsidiary, whose intermediate parent company, AllL,
prepares a group consolidated cash flow statementin its group consolidated financial statements, which are publicly
available.

¢c) Exemption from disclosing related party transactions
As the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary, it has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 102

paragraph 33.1A from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are wholly owned within the Evergreen
Parent GP LLC group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2 Basis of preparation
d) Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 and FRS 103 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires Management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the Financial Statements have been disclosed as appropriate in note 5 and in the
risk disclosures in note 6. The most significant areas of uncertainty within the accounts relate to judgements related
to insurance risk and the estimations involved in calculating the earned premiums (including pipeline premiums),
lapse provisions, technical provisions and fair values and impairments of financial instruments.

e) Going concern

The Company has considerable financial resources and a balanced book of business. After review of the key
performance indicators, financial and solvency (as determined under the Solvency Il regime) forecasts and budgets, .
and the key risks as outlined in note 6 to the Financial Statements, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company has adequate resources available to continue in operational existence for 12 months from the
approval of the financial statements.

Management prepares a number of risk assessment documents which are reviewed by the Board and shared with
the PRA as appropriate. These documents also consider the Company’s responses to mitigate these risks.

The Directors have evaluated the results of the assessments conducted by Management, including stresses as
described in the 'Principal risks and uncertainties' section of the Strategic Report, and believe that the going concern
basis of preparing the Financial Statements is appropriate. A

3 Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set out below.

3.1 Basis of accounting for underwriting activities

All classes of business written are accounted for on an annual basis whereby the incurred cost of claims,
commission and related expenses are charged against the earned proportion of premiums, net of reinsurance.

3.2 Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are components of the Company that have been disposed of during 2020 and previously
represented a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation.

They are included in the profit and loss account in a separate column for 2020, with the loss on abandonment
shown in the statement of changes in equity.

3.3 Gross written premiums
Gross written premiums comprise the premiums on contracts entered into in the financial period plus adjustments
to premiums and premiums invoiced in the period relating to contracts entered into in prior periods but which had

not previously been reflected in written premiums. Estimates are included of pipeline premiums due but not yet
notified to the Company.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Gross written premiums (continued)

Gross written premiums are stated gross of commissions payable to intermediaries, except where policies are
issued to the intermediary on a wholesale basis and the intermediary is responsible for setting the ultimate amount
charged to the insured without reference to the insurer. In such cases, gross written premiums are stated net of
commissions payable to intermediaries. In both cases, gross written premiums are stated exclusive of taxes and
duties levied on premiums.

Outward reinsurance premiums are accounted for as written in the same accounting period as the premiums for
the related direct or inwards reinsurance business.

3.4 Reinsurance

Contracts entered into by the Company with reinsurers, under which the Company is compensated for losses on
one or more contracts issued by the Company and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts,
are classified as reinsurance contracts.

Insurance contracts entered into by the Company under which the contract holder is another insurer (inwards
reinsurance) are included with insurance contracts, provided there is significant transfer of insurance risk.

The amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers are estimated based upon the gross provisions, having due
regard to collectability. Reinsurance recoveries in respect of estimated claims incurred but not reported are
assumed to be consistent with the historical pattern of such recoveries, adjusted to reflect changes in the nature
and extent of the Company’s reinsurance programme over time. The recoverability of reinsurance recoveries is
assessed having regard to market data on the financial strength of each of the reinsurance companies. The
reinsurers’ share of claims incurred, in the Income Statement, reflects the amounts received or receivable from
reinsurers in respect of those claims incurred during the period. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums
payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised in the Income Statement as ‘Outward reinsurance premiums’
over the relevant risk period.

Assets created by reinsurance transactions are measured on a basis consistent with the related reinsured liability,
subject to any allowance for impairment.

3.5 Technical provisions
The technical provisions carried forward at the end of the period comprise:
i) Unearned premium reserve

Unearned premiums represent the proportion of written premiums that relate to unexpired terms of policies in force
at the balance sheet date.

Premium is recognised as earned over the contract period. The earned element is calculated on a basis where the
premium is apportioned over the period of risk.

The estimation of earned premium uses judgement about the profile of risk over the coverage period of
(re)insurance contracts and reflects the likelihood of when claims arise across the classes of business. This more
closely aligns the earning of premium with the basis of reserving claims.

The proportion of premiums written, gross of commission payable, attributable to periods after the balance sheet
date is deferred as a provision for unearned premiums. The change in this reserve is taken to the Income Statement
as revenue is recognised over the period of risk.

Outward quota share reinsurance premiums follow the same basis. Outward excess of loss reinsurance premiums
on policies purchased on a 'risks attaching during’ basis are earned over the same accounting period as the written
premiums attaching to the contract for the related direct or inwards reinsurance business. Outward excess of loss
reinsurance premiums on policies purchased on a 'loss occurring during’ basis are earned over the period of
coverage of these reinsurance contracts.
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3.5 Technical provisions (continued)
iij)  Claims outstanding
Provision is made at the year end, on the basis of best available information, for the following estimates:

. The cost of claims notified to the Company but not settled at the end of the period on an individual case
basis. Case estimates are generally set by skilled claims technicians applying their experience and
knowledge to the evidence available, and are updated to reflect any changes in circumstances as they
become known. Salvage and other similar recoveries are brought to account as and when received.

. The estimated cost of claims incurred before the end of the period but either not reported to the Company
(incurred but not reported ‘IBNR’) or not enough reported to the Company (incurred but not enough
reported ‘IBNER'). The estimation of the cost of these claims is based upon various techniques using a
blend of past claims development experience (or benchmarks) and initial loss ratio expectations which
are used to estimate the ultimate cost of the claims. The estimation techniques used take into account
the level of business and the nature of the policies underwritten by the Company. See note 5 for further
details.

. The estimated cost of managing claims incurred before the end of the period. This is based on the
administrative cost of managing each claim, the number of claims outstanding and the amount of claims
outstanding at the end of the financial period.

. Reinsurance recoveries of claims outstanding. These are recognised separately on the Statement of
Financial Position on the basis of the reinsurance contract terms concerned.
. An additional margin held as a provision above the actuarial best estimate against the uncertainty in the

estimation process. This is calculated as a proportion of the case reserves and IBNR and IBNER with
the proportion judgmentally being selected based on the uncertainty within each class of business.
. Large claims, which are identified and reserved for separately.

The provision for claims outstanding is based on information available at the Statement of Financial Position date.
Delays are experienced in the notification and settlement of claims, and accordingly the ultimate cost of such claims
cannot be known with certainty at the Statement of Financial Position date. Subsequent information and events may
result in the ultimate liability being less than, or greater than, the amount provided. The Company underwrites some
classes of business in which the emergence and development of claims is slower than average, and the estimation
of the provision required for these classes is accordingly more uncentain. Any differences between provisions and
subsequent settlements are dealt with in the technical account — general business in the period in which the claim
is settled or a revised estimate of the cost of the settlement made. Further details of the use of judgements and
estimates in the valuation of Technical Provisions is described in Note 5.

iii) Unexpired risks provision

Provisions are made for any deficiencies arising when incurred premiums, net of associated acquisition costs, are
insufficient to meet expected claims and expenses after taking into account future return on the investments
supporting the unearned premiums provision and unexpired risks provision. The expected claims are calculated
based on information available at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Unexpired risk surpluses and deficits are offset where business classes are managed together and a provision is
made if an aggregate deficit arises

3.6 Acquisition costs

Acquisition costs are comprised of commission payable to third parties, including related parties. They are incurred
on the same basis as the earned premiums they relate to.

Deferred acquisition costs represent the proportion of acquisition costs incurred which corresponds to the unearned
premiums provision. They are amortised over the period in which the related premiums are earned.

An equivalent approach is adopted to reinsurance commission receivable.
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3.7 Claims incurred
Claims incurred consist of the estimated cost of all losses occurring and paid during the period and changes in the
provisions for outstanding claims, whether reported or not, including related direct and indirect claims handling
costs and adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years.

3.8 Investments in subsidiary undertakings and participating interests

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at fair value based upon the Directors’ valuation with any changes
in fair value recognised in the Income Statement.

Further details of the use of judgements and estimates in the valuation of investments of subsidiary undertakings
and participating interests are given in Note 5.

3.9 Investment property

The Company owns land and buildings which are part owner occupied and part held as investment property. The
Company has elected to carry the investment property at fair value. Full valuation of the investment property is
carried out on an annual basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. The aggregate surplus or deficit on
revaluation of the investment property is taken to the non-technical account.

3.10 Tangible assets
i)  Land and buildings

The Company has elected to carry the owner-occupied element of land and buildings at fair value less depreciation
as is permitted under FRS 102. Full valuations are made by independent, professionally qualified valuers on an
annual basis.

If the carrying value is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve within equity. However, the increase is recognised in the non-
technical account to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease previously recognised in the non-technical
account. '

A decrease of the carrying amount as a result of a revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income to the
extent that it reverses any previously recognised revaluation increase accumulated in the revaluation reserve within
equity. If a revaluation decrease exceeds the accumulated revaluation gains in the revaluation reserve in respect
of that asset the excess is recognised in the non-technical account.

iij)  Other tangible assets

Other tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.
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3

Significant accounting policies (i:ontinued)
3.10 Tangible assets (continued)
iiij} Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

Freehold property - Over 40 years

iv) Impairment

The Company assesses at each reporting date if there is any indication that a tangible asset may be impaired. If
any such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset in order to determine the
extent of impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is lower than its carrying value, then an impairment loss has
occurred and, the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount with the difference (i.e. the impairment amount) being
charged to the non-technical account.

3.11 Taxation

Tax on ordinary activities comprises current and deferred tax.

i)  Current tax

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is
calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.

iij)  Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the Statement of Financial
Position date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they
crystallise based on current tax rates and substantially enacted tax law. Timing differences arise from the inclusion
of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those included in financial
statements. Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that
they will be recovered. Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.

3.12 Financial instruments - financial assets

In applying FRS 102, the Company has chosen to apply the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39,
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.

The Company classifies its financial Instruments into the following category: Investments in corporate and
government bonds and Equity fund investments at fair value through the Income Statement. All other financial
assets are carried at amortised cost.

The Company determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date the Company commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.12 Financial instruments - financial assets (continued)
i)  Fair value through the Income Statement

The Company elects to carry its investments at fair value through the Income Statement at inception if doing so
results in more relevant information. These assets are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, and information about their fair values is provided internally to key management personnel on a regular basis.
The fair values of these financial instruments are based on quoted bid prices as at the Statement of Financial
Position date.

i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market.

When these assets are recognised initially, they are valued at the transaction price. Loans and receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Receivables arising from insurance
contracts are included in this category and are reviewed for impairment as part of the impairment review of loans
and receivables. This basis of valuation is viewed by the Directors as being appropriately prudent having regard to
the likely realisable value.

iijj Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from
the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Company
in the management of its short term commitments. They are carried at amortised cost in the Statement of Financial
Position. Bank overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

iv) Impairment of financial assets

For financial assets not carried at fair value through the Income Statement, the Company assesses at each
Statement of Financial Position date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a resuit of one or more events that have occurred after the initial
recognition of the assets and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that may be incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised In the Income Statement for the period. As a practical expedient, the Company may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Company’s grading process that considers asset type, industry,
geographical location, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the issuer’s ability to pay all amounts
due under the contractual terms of the debt instrument being evaluated.
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3.12 Financial instruments - financial assets (continued)
iv) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved credit rating), the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through the Income Statement for the period.

. 3.13 Financial instruments — financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when contractual commitments arise.

Creditors are financial liabilities and are recognised initially at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
Creditors are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

3.14 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only when,
the Company has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.15 Investment return

Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis. Realised gains and losses on investments carried at fair value
through the Income Statement are calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and purchase price.
Movements in unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the fair value at the
Statement of Financial Position date and their purchase price or their fair value at the last Statement of Financial
Position date, together with the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in
respect of investment disposals in the current period.

3.16 Defined contribution pension plans

The Company operated a defined contribution plan for its Italian branch employees which transferred in 2020 to
AA as part of the Part VIl transfer. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company paid
fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions had been paid the Company had no further
payment obligations. The contributions were recognised as an expense when they were due. Amounts not paid
were shown in accruals in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the plan were held separately from
the Company in independently administered funds.

3.17 Foreign currency translation

The Company’s Financial Statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, rounded to thousands, which is the
Company's functional currency. The Company still holds a building and remaining tax liability in an Italian branch
which has a Euro functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at

the Statement of Financial Position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the respective historic rates applicable to each such asset or liability.
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3.17 Foreign currency translation (continued)

In accordance with FRS 103, unearned premium reserve and deferred acquisition costs are treated as monetary
assets for this purpose. '

All differences on retranslation are taken to the Income Statement.

The results and financial position of the Italian branch are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
e assets and liabilities are transiated at the closing rate at the Statement of Financial Position date;
e income and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange during the year; and
o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

4 Insurance Business Transfers

There were no insurance business transfers during 2021. On 31 July 2020, the Company transferred its Italian
Medical Malpractice business into AA and all other EEA business into AlU, fellow group companies, pursuant to
Part VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. This decision was driven by the ultimate parent group’s
overall Brexit Strategy. The results of the business transferred have been presented as discontinued operations in
the income statement.

The assets and liabilities were transferred at book values and the consideration is set at the equivalent Solvency Il
regulatory value. The difference between book values of assets and liabilities transferred and consideration has
been accounted for in retained earnings on the basis that the transfers represent a group reconstruction of
businesses within the AmTrust Financial Services, Inc. Group.

The book values of the assets and liabilities transferred and cash consideration are set out in the table below;

AA AlU Total

£000 £000 £000

Provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers’' share 5,666 32,123 37,789
Claims outstanding, reinsurers’ share 323,844 73,363 397,207
Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 36,409 54,247 90,656
Deferred acquisition costs 1,896 12,872 14,768
Other debtors - 5,487 5,487
Total assets 367,815 178,092 545,907
Provision for unearned premiums, gross 13,227 63,524 76,751
Claims outstanding, gross 493,425 115,327 608,752
Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 5,550 32,568 38,118
Other creditors including taxation and social security 1,693 (9,908) (8,215)
Accruals and deferred income 680 3,135 3,815
Total liabilities 514,575 204,646 719,221
Net liabilities transferred 146,760 26,554 173,314
Consideration paid 157,552 35,838 193,390
Loss on transfer accounted for in retained earnings (10,792) (9,284! 520,076!
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5 Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors have made judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the amounts reported in the Statement of Financial
Position and the Income Statement.

Discretionary judgement and estimates are of significance for the following items in particular:

Significant judgements Note
Insurance risk 5.1
Significant accounting estimates Note
Earned premiums . 5.2
Lapse provision v 5.3
Technical provisions 54
Valuation of investments in subsidiary undertakings - 55
Fair values and impairments of financial instruments 56

5.1 Insurance risk

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk (i.e. an insured event could cause
the insurer to pay significant additional benefits in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial
substance). The Company considers that all of the contracts it underwrites carry insurance, rather than financial
risk.

5.2 Earned premium

Premiums are earned over the period of risk. The profile of the risk is estimated over the coverage period of the
contract. Premiums are usually earned on a time apportioned basis, however for certain classes of business
premiums are earned based on claims development experience reflecting the seasonal nature of these classes.
This latter approach is inherently more judgmental and therefore requires consideration of claims curves relating to
the associated business.

Estimates are included for pipeline premiums due but not yet notified to the Company. These estimates are provided
by underwriters and monitored on a frequent and ongoing basis. :

5.3 Lapse provisions

The lapse provision includes estimates for lapse rates and loss ratios based upon all available historical information.
These are reviewed regularly by Management. A lapse provision is required for legal expenses ATE policies which
the Company estimates will not be successful in court and therefore no premiums will be collected and no losses
will be incurred.

5.4 Technical provisions

In insurance and reinsurance, the use of estimates for measuring technical provisions is of substantial significance,
given that measurement is based on models and the development of future cash flows from insurance contracts
cannot be conclusively predicted. Judgement and estimates based on Management's knowledge of the business
can be an important factor.

The Company’s processes are geared to determining amounts as accurately as possible, taking into account all
relevant known information, specifically linked to the line of business underwritten. Available factual information and
Management’'s knowledge of the items concerned are the bases for determining accurate estimates at the reporting
date. Estimates may have to be adjusted in the course of time to take into account new knowledge.
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5.4 Technical provisions (continued)

Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

Further details are included in note 6.1.2.
5.5 Valuation of investments in subsidiary undertakings and participating interests

Investments in subsidiaries are initially recognised at fair value on the date at which the Company obtains control
of the subsidiary. Fair value is inherently volatile and therefore a high level of judgement is used in arriving at the
valuations within the Financial Statements. Management use a combination of the underlying net assets and where
relevant, recent purchase prices, to arrive at appropriate fair values for each entity. The Company monitors the
underlying risk appetites of all subsidiaries to ensure volatility is kept to a minimum. The Directors continue to
assess the performance of subsidiary undertakings, associates and participating interests to ensure fair values are
based on the most recent financial information.

5.6 Fair values and impairments of financial instruments

Estimates in relation to financial instruments are outlined in note 7.
6 Management of risk

6.1 Management of insurance risk

The predominant risk to which the Company is exposed is insurance risk which is assumed through the underwriting
process. Insurance risk can be sub-categorised into underwriting and reserving risk.

6.1.1 Underwriting risk

Underwriting risk refers to fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severity of insured events, relative to the
expectations of the Company at.the time of underwriting.

The Company underwrites a range of insurance risks within a number of different classes of business. Within each
class the features of the insurance risk to which the Company is exposed differ in terms of frequency and severity.
The Company monitors the performance of each class of business and that information is used to drive pricing
strategies for new and renewal business.

Management monitors risk primarily on a class basis as this is believed to be the key driver for concentration of
risk. However, the performance of individual schemes and programmes within each class is also monitored.
Corrective action is taken if a particular scheme or programme is not performing as expected.

The Company ensures that the underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk and
geography. Furthermore, underwriting limits and guidelines are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria.

The Actuarial Pricing team reviews new business to determine that rates are adequate. Within underwriting teams,
a peer review also takes place. The Company uses a suite of Key Risk Indicators ('KRIs') to monitor its exposure
to underwriting risks that are evaluated each quarter. Furthermore, underwriting performance is monitored against
risk appetites in terms of volume of written premium, underwriting profit and concentration via the KRI reporting
process. These include: volume of premium underwritten, by class of business; priced loss ratios in comparison
with plan; ultimate loss ratios in comparison with plan; concentration of premium and profit contribution by class;
and deterioration in prior year reserves.
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6 Management of risk (continued)
6.1.1 Underwriting risk (continued)

The Company also uses reinsurance with external providers to mitigate underwriting risk. This takes the form of a
whole account quota share agreement on all business written by the Company (excluding mortgage and credit), as
well as, quota share (including mortgage and credit) and excess of loss contracts on individual classes of business.

6.1.2 Reserving risk

Reserving risk is the risk that estimates in respect of insurance claims are ultimately insufficient to fully settle those
claims and associated expenses.

The Company has specialised claims teams in place to manage claims and monitor risks on an on-going basis to
ensure decisions are based on accurate up to date information.

i)  Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments

The Company has employed techniques and assumptions that Management believe are appropriate for estimating
the insurance liabilities. However, the results of these techniques are subject to inherent model and parameter
uncertainty and it should be recognised that future claim emergence is likely to deviate, perhaps materially, from
actuarial estimates. The estimates are subject to uncertainty from various sources, including but not limited to,
changes in claim reporting patterns, claim settlement patterns, judicial decisions, legislation, and general economic
conditions. This uncertainty stems from several factors including lack of historical data, uncertainty over events yet
to occur, uncertainty with regard to claim costs, coverage interpretations and the judicial, statutory and regulatory
provisions under which the claims may be ultimately resolved. Therefore, it is certain that actual future losses will
not develop exactly as projected and may vary from Management's projections. Further, the projections make no
provisions for extraordinary future emergence of new types of claims not sufficiently represented in the historical
data or that are not yet quantifiable, except where claims of these types are included in the reported claims and are
implicitly analysed.

The uncertainty in the estimates for the Company is increased due to:

e Some risks being written on a claims occurrence basis possibly resulting in significant delays in claims being

reported,;

The small size of some classes;

Significant changes in the mix of business within some classes;

Lack of development history and hence reliance on benchmarks for some classes;

Increased reserving uncertainty on long-tailed classes which may be subject to limited development history.

Losses reported by companies underwriting similar long-tailed classes have been particularly volatile

increasing the uncertainty in the actuarial best estimates of claims for these classes;

e Uncertainty over the losses on remaining unearned exposures, particularly for the classes earning over
extended periods; and

e Uncertainty over the number and magnitude of potential large losses on long-tailed business.

ii}  Process used to decide on assumptions

The Company uses assumptions based on a mixture of internal historical data and market benchmarks to estimate
its claims liabilities. The Company uses several statistical methods to incorporate the various assumptions made
in order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The choice of selected results for each underwriting year of each
class of business depends on an assessment of the technique that has been most appropriate to observed historical
developments. In certain instances, this has meant that different techniques or combinations of techniques have
been selected for individual years or groups of years within the same class of business.

In addition to the market and risk specific data which the actuarial function uses, information is also gathered from

discussions with other business functions (Underwriting, Claims, Reinsurance and Finance). Judgement is also
applied before finalising the selected assumptions.
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6.1.2 Reserving risk (continued)
iii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table presents the sensitivity of the value of insurance liabilities disclosed in the accounts to potential
movements in the assumptions applied within the technical provisions. Given the nature of the business
underwritten by the Company, the approach to calculating the technical provisions for each class can vary and as
a result the sensitivity performed is to apply a beneficial and adverse risk margin to the total insurance liability.
Management deem a range of +/-2.5% and +/-5.0% to be reasonable in showing sensitivities in insurance liabilities
based on the ultimate cost of settling gross claims.

General Insurance business sensitivities as at 31 December 2021

Risk margin

+2.5% -2.5% +5.0% -5.0%
£000 £000 £°000 £000
Claims outstanding - gross of reinsurance 10,918 (10,918) 21,836 (21,836)
Claims outstanding - net of reinsurance 5,213 (5,213) 10,425 (10,425)
Impact on shareholder’s funds (102) 102 (203) 203
Impact on profit (movement in year) (102) 102 (203) 203

General Insurance business sensitivities as at 31 December 2020

Risk margin

+2.5% -2.5% +5.0% -5.0%
£000 £000 £000 £000
Claims outstanding - gross of reinsurance 9,740 (9,740) 19,481 (19,481)
Claims outstanding - net of reinsurance 4,709 (4,709) 9,419 (9,419)
Impact on shareholder’s funds (92) 92 (184) 184
Impact on profit (movement in year) (92) 92 (184) 184
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6.1.2 Reserving risk (continued)
iv) Claims development tables
The tables below present the development of claims payments and the estimated cost of claims for underwriting
years 2012 to 2021. Ultimate claims costs fell during 2020 due to the Part VIl FSMA 2000 transfer of the Company's

EEA business to other AmTrust Group companies in July 2020. The tables below reflect the effect of each
underwriting year's business being earned over its first 2-3 years of development.

Gross estimated earned ultimate claims including IBNR

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total
Estimate of
ultimate claims £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
costs
At end of
76,200 91,926 94,255 97,700 107,668 107,375 116,396 138,665 76,692 88,637

reporting year
One year later 209,203 210,990 215,856 286,190 258,872 260,903 222,470 163,385 151,222
Two years later 219,117 231,504 246,460 314,536 288,630 275850 166,181 179,744

Three years later 241,397 275515 255,981 320,481 300,447 127,286 181,079

Four years later 261,184 276,057 253,687 302,608 144,085 134,334

Five years later 270,436 282,403 249,009 123,773 155,394

Six years later 273,507 287,385 116,159 125,624

Seven years later 276,591 113,335 119,129

Eight years later 81,818 114,535

Nine years later 74,903

Current estimate

of cumulative 74903 114535 119,129 125624 155,394 134,334 181,079 179,744 151,222 88,637 1,324,601
claims

Cumulative

payments to date 75,753 103,539 110,270 103,569 108,600 102,533 123,566 97,680 54,172 28,133 907,815
Liability .

recognised in the
Statement of
Financial Position

(850) 10,996 8,859 22,055 46,794 31,801 57,513 82,064 97,050 60,504 416,786

Provision in

respect of prior 19,928
years

Gross claims

reserve 436,714
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6.1.2 Reserving risk (continued)

Net estimated earned ultimate claims including IBNR

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total
Estimate of
ultimate £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
claims costs
At end of

reporting year 16,417 21,179 23,556 25,409 31,838 47,027 74,041 100,508 38,590 47,869

One year later 44,523 49,690 53,682 71,176 82,831 126,237 147,527 105,293 73,656
Two years later 48,317 55,101 61,157 76,946 84,075 139,249 112958 118,820

phree years 53,194 65630 63668 77,812 103,998 63,138 121,006

Fouryears later 57,659 65,249 63,743 76,718 50,320 67,305
Five years later 59,848 66,723 63,658 36,750 53,056

Six years later 56,988 67,853 34,532 36,689
Seven years
later
Eight years
later

Nine years later 19,709

60,905 33,637 35,290

22,557 33,915

Current
estimate of
cumulative
claims
Cumulative
payments to 21,137 31,194 32,657 31,313 38,534 51,221 85,098 66,210 26,575 18,410 402,350
date

19,709 33,915 35290 36,689 53,056 67,305 121,006 118,820 73,656 47,869 607,316

Liability

recognised in

the Statement (1,428) 2,721 2,633 5,376 14,522 16,084 35,908 52,610 47,081 29,459 204,966
of Financial

Position

Provision in
respect of prior 3,541
years

Net claims

reserve 208,507
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6.2 Management of financial risk

The Company is exposed to a range of financial risks, in particular, the key financial risk is that the carrying value
of financial assets is not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from insurance policies as they fall due. The most
important components of financial risk are market risk (including interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

These risks arise from open positions in interest rate and currency, all of which are exposed to general and specific
market movements. The risk that the Company faces due to the nature of its investment and liabilities is interest
rate risk. Currency risk relates to differences in exchange rates compared to functional currency.

The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's financial performance. It manages these positions within
an asset liability management (‘ALM’) framework that has been developed to minimise the risk of significant
deterioration of the investment portfolio while earning profitable returns from those investments. The Company
produces regular reports at a portfolio level that are circulated to key management personnel. The Company does
not use hedge accounting.

The Company has not changed the processes used to manage its risks from previous periods. The notes below
explain how financial risks are managed using the Company’s ALM framework.

2021 2020

£'000 £°000
Financial assets carried at fair value through the Income Statement 423,618 365,674
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 336,223 336,851
Assets from reinsurance contracts 359,847 335,387
Cash at bank and in hand 62,050 32,734
Other assets 75,273 77,798
Total assets 1,257,011 1,148,444
Liabilities from insurance contracts A 788,644 734,358
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost . 228,028 191,349
Other liabilities ' 24,232 22,349
Total liabilities . 1,040,904 948,056

6.2.1 Marketrisk
i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises primarily from investments in fixed interest securities. In addition to the extent that claims
inflation is correlated to interest rates, liabilities to policyholders are exposed to interest rate risk.

The Company monitors interest rate risk as part of its regulatory reporting process, by monitoring the duration of
assets and liabilities.

Any gap between the mean duration of the assets and the estimated mean duration of the liabilities is minimised
by buying and selling fixed interest securities of different durations.

An analysis of the Company’s sensitivity to interest rate changes on the result and net assets of the Company is
presented in the table below:

2021 2020
£000 £'000

Interest rate risk
impact of 100 basis point increase on the result and net assets (11,021) (8,067)
Impact of 100 basis point decrease on the result and net assets 9,638 2,584
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ii) Currency risk

The Company manages its foreign exchange risk against its functional currency. Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Company is exposed to currency risk in respect of liabilities under policies of
insurance denominated in currencies other than Pounds Sterling.

The Company seeks to mitigate the risk by matching the estimated foreign currency denominated liabilities with
assets denominated in the same currency. The Company has an Italian branch operation, whose net assets are
exposed to foreign currency translation risk.

The table below summarises the exposure of the financial assets and liabilities to foreign currency exchange risk
at the reporting date.

GBP UsD EUR Other Total
2021 £000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £000
Financial investments 406,511 1,454 - 15,653 423,618
Investment property 5174 - - - 5,174
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 329,621 28,776 - 1,450 359,847
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 215,081 38,141 111 1,242 254,575
Cash at bank and in hand 46,907 6,481 5,295 3,367 62,050
Other assets 141,752 6,899 3,035 61 151,747
Total assets 1,145,046 81,751 8,441 21,773 1,257,011
Technical provisions 714,473 71,544 - 2,627 788,644
Insurance and reinsurance payables 195,754 18,016 - 401 214,171
Other creditors 33,317 2,380 1,031 1,361 38,089
Total liabilities 943,544 91,940 1,031 4,389 1,040,904
Net assets/(liabilities) 201,502 (10,189) 7,410 17,384 216,107

GBP uUsD EUR Other Total
2020 (adjusted) £°000 £000 £000 £°000 £000
Financial investments 287,504 3,109 61,160 13,901 365,674
Investment property 4911 - - - 4,911
Investments in subsidiaries - - 3,314 - 3,314
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 312,777 21,089 - 1,521 335,387
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 185,172 24,931 - 724 210,827
Cash at bank and in hand 23,274 1,437 7,183 840 32,734
Other assets 149,026 6,590 38,986 995 195,597
Total assets 962,664 57,156 110,643 17,981 1,148,444
Technical provisions 679,949 51,518 - 2,891 734,358
Insurance and reinsurance payables 118,236 5,610 - 791 124,637
Other creditors 56,074 2,998 29,690 299 89,061
Total liabilities 854,259 60,126 29,690 3,981 948,056
Net assets/(liabilities) 108,405 (2,970) 80,953 14,000 200,388

The 2020 table above has been adjusted to show investment property and investments in subsidiaries separately
to other financial investments.
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6.2.2 Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due. Key areas where the
Company is exposed to credit risk are:

reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities;

amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid,;
amounts due from insurance debtors;

amounts due from insurance intermediaries;

amounts due from corporate bond issuers;

deposits at credit institutions; and

) amounts due from group undertakings.

eaoegose

The Company manages the levels of credit risk it accepts by reviewing exposures regularly and reporting to
Management on significant counterparties. Credit limits are also in place for certain counterparties as is deemed
appropriate within the business.

Exposures to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders are considered through the ongoing credit control
activity and monitoring of aged debt.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Company's liability as
primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim, the Company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder.
The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered continually during the course of business. The Company’s largest
counterparty is an internal group reinsurer. The Company’s credit risk exposure to this counterparty is mitigated
through the funding of a collateral account based on the economic net value of the liabilities.

The Company also mitigates credit counterparty risk by investing in high quality government and corporate bonds.

The assets bearing credit risk are summarised below:

2021 2020
£'000 £°000
Financial assets carried at fair value through the Income Statement 423,618 365,674
Financial assets measured at amortised cost — debtors 336,223 336,851
Assets from reinsurance contracts 228,207 335,387
Cash at bank and in hand 62,050 32,734

Total financial assets 1,050,098 1,070,646

Note 32 describes the collateral which is held as security over certain reinsurance assets to which the Company is
exposed to credit risk. Other than this collateral there are no other differences between the carrying amounts and
the maximum exposure.

The Company reports on debts that are more than 3 months overdue. The amount at 31 December 2021 was
£11,390,000 (2020 - £12,705,000).

A provision is carried for the potential impairment of financial assets relating to policyholder receivables.
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6 Management of risk (continued)

6.2.2 Creditrisk (continued)

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Financial Statements.

2021 Neither past
due nor Past due but
impaired notimpaired Impaired Total
£000 £000 £°000 £000
Reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding 228,207 - - 228,207
Debtors arising out of direct insurance 220,694 18,446 6,323 245,463
operations )
Other debtors 9,112 - - 9,112
Cash at bank and in hand 62,050 - - 62,050
_Total credit risk 520,063 18,446 6,323 544,832
2020 Neither past
due nor Past due but
impaired notimpaired Impaired Total
£000 £°000 £000 £000
Reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding 201,242 - - 201,242
Debtors arising out of direct insurance 176,859 19,262 7,512 203,633
operations
Other debtors 8,708 - - 8,708
Cash at bank and in hand 32,734 - - 32,734
_Total credit risk 419,543 19,262 7,512 446,317
The table below shows an aging analysis of financial assets that are past due at the end of the reporting period but not
impaired.
2021 Past due Past due
more than more than
one two
Past due month months Past due
less than but less but less more than
one than two than three three
month months months months Total
£000 £°000 £°000 £000 £000
Debtors arising out of direct insurance 5,075 1,396 585 11,390 18,446
operations
Total - 5,075 1,396 585 11,390 18,446
2020 Past due Past due
more than more than
one two
Past due month months Past due
less than but less but less more than
one than two than three three
month months months months Total
£000 £°000 £°000 £000 £000
Debtors arising out of direct insurance 3,865 1,396 1,296 12,705 19,262
operations
Total 3,865 1,396 1,296 12,705 19,262
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6.2.2 Credit risk (continued)

The analysis of financial assets by reference to counterparty credit rating is as folliows:

2021 . Carrying
AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated amount
£°000 £000 £000 £000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £000

Financial investments 47,038 48,457 106,021 12,374 - - 209,728 423,618

Debtors arising out of - 16,592 46,701 - - - 272,930 336,223

- direct insurance

operations

Debtors arising out of - 169,720 122,544 - - - 67,583 359,847

reinsurance operations

Cash at bank and in - - 537 57,372 - 4,140 1 62,050

hand ) '

Total assets 47,038 234,769 275,803 69,746 - 4,140 550,242 1,181,738

2020 Carrying
AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated amount
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £°000 £°000 £°000

Financial investments 27,316 52,613 107,651 11,605 - - 166,489 365,674

Debtors arising out of - 10,966 64,044 - - - 261,841 336,851

direct insurance .

operations

Debtors arising out of - 112,196 158,598 - - - 64,593 335,387

reinsurance operations

Cash at bank and in - - 20,905 7,427 - 4,398 4 32,734

hand

Total assets 27,316 175,776 351,198 19,032 - 4,398 492,927 1,070,646

Unrated assets are comprised of Government Bonds and Debtors. The unrated Government Bonds do not currently
have a rating under S&P, as used by the Company, but are recognised by other agencies - Fitch and.Moody’s and
the Company expects these to be aligned in time. Unrated Debtor balances relate to those for which a rating would
not generally be provided. Management expects no significant losses from non-performance by its counterparties.
The Company made provision for the potential impairment of financial assets of £6,323,000 (2020- £7,512,000).

6.2.3 Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources, mainly from claims arising from insurance
contracts.

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due at a reasonable cost. The
primary liquidity risk of the Company is the obligation to pay claims to policy holders as they fall due. The projected
settlement of these liabilities is modelled, on a regular basis, using actuarial techniques. The table below analyses
the maturity of the Company'’s financial liabilities and outstanding claims. All liabilities are presented on a contractual
cash flow basis except for the insurance liabilities, which are presented with their expected cash flows. A significant
proportion of the Company’s investments are in highly liquid assets which-could be converted into cash at short
notice and at minimal expense.
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6 Management of risk (continued)

6.2.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis of financial assets as at 31 December 2021

Between
one year Greater
No stated Less than and five than five
maturity one year years years Total
£000 £'000 £°000 £°000 £'000
Financial assets measured at 6,426 329,797 - - 336,223
amortised cost
Claims outstanding — reinsurers’ - 78,949 113,358 35,900 228,207
share
Total 6,426 408,746 113,358 35,900 564,430
Maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2021
Between
one year Greater
No stated Less than and five than five
maturity one year years years Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
Financial liabilities measured at 33,248 194,780 - - 228,028
amortised cost
Claims outstanding - 159,767 216,074 60,873 436,714
Total 33,248 354,547 216,074 60,873 664,742
Maturity analysis of financial assets as at 31 December 2020
Between
one year Greater
No stated Less than and five than five
maturity one year years years Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets measured at 14,170 186,571 136,110 - 336,851
amortised cost )
Claims outstanding — reinsurers’ - 72,590 94,790 33,861 201,241
share
Total _14,170 259,161 230,900 33,861 538,092
Maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2020
Between
one year Greater
No stated Less than and five than five
maturity one year years years Total
£'000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £'000
Financial liabilities measured at 29,943 161,406 - - 191,349
amortised cost
Claims outstanding - 149,106 187,355 53,157 389,618
Total 29,943 310,512 187,355 53,157 580,967
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- 6.3 Capital Management

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Evergreen Parent GP, LLC group and its capital is financed
exclusively through equity and retained reserves. As a result, the Company considers shareholder’s funds of
£216,107,000 (2020 - £200,388,000), as shown on the Statement of Financial Position, to be the capital which it
manages. This approach has not changed since the prior year. The fall in shareholder’s funds from 2020 is due to
the Part VII transfer resulting in excess capital which was returned to the shareholder through dividends.

The Company is a regulated undertaking and subject to supervision by the PRA under the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000.

The Company actively manages capital to ensure that it can continually meet its regulatory capital requirements
while also maintaining sufficient capital to retain financial strength and allow new profitable growth. Management
monitor the performance of all aspects of the business to ensure profitability is managed against risks and that the
financial and capital position of the Company is not compromised.

The Company is required to meet a Solvency Capital Requirement (‘SCR’) which is calibrated to seek to ensure a
99.5% confidence of the ability to meet obligations over a 12-month time horizon. The Company calculates its SCR
in accordance with the standard formula prescribed in PRA regulations as the assumptions underlying the standard
formula are considered to be not materially inappropriate for the Company’s risk profile. The solvency ratio has
increased to 145% (2020 restated - 127%). 2020 Solvency Ratio was reviewed and resubmitted after the 2020
Financial Statements were published after a calculation error was identified.

The Company calculates its linear MCR using the prescribed formula. The MCR coverage ratio has decreased to
389% (2020 restated - 415%).

7 Fair value estimation

For financial instruments carried at fair value the Company has categorised the measurement basis into a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

* Level 1: The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date. ‘

* Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using
market data) for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

o Level 3: Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability.

The Company carries its investment portfolio in equities, corporate and government bonds, as well as its own use
and investment property, at fair value.

7.1 Other financial investments

Corporate bonds amounting to £1,454,000 (2020 - £63,421,000) have been included in level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy as the fair value of these financial instruments is measured by reference to published quotes in an active
market where the quoted price is readily available from an exchange and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Corporate and government bonds amounting to £417,004,000 (2020 - £298,807,000) have been included in level
2 of the fair value hierarchy as the fair value of these financial instruments is measured using valuation techniques
based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable market transactions. The Company seeks to
determine the fair value of financial assets primarily with reference to their closing bid market prices at the Statement
of Financial Position date.

Equity fund investments amounting to £5,160,000 (2020 - £3,446,000) have been included in level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

48



AmTrust Europe Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
7 Fair value estimation (continued)
7.1 Other financial investments (continued)

Together with the AmTrust Group’s investment managers, Management continues to monitor the potential for any
adverse development associated with this investment exposure through the analysis of relevant factors such as
credit ratings and default rates in relation to the securities held. The Company did not experience any defaults on
debt securities during the year. Valuation of these securities will continue to be impacted by external market factors.
The Company will make adjustments to the investment portfolio as appropriate as part of its overall portfolio
strategy.

7.2 Investment property

The investment property amounting to £5,174,000 (2020 - £4,911,000) has been valued using market conditions
at the Statement of Financial Position date by a third-party independent valuer and has been inciuded in level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. The valuer performed the market valuation based on a traditional income capitalisation
basis having regard to the various income streams. Consideration has been given to certain unobservable inputs
including, but not limited to, void periods of between 6 and 12 months, rent-free periods of up to 6 months, holding
costs, re-letting fees and service charges as well as necessary capital expenditure. The fair value is sensitive to
movements in these assumptions. The economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been factored in to the’
calculations and assumptions used in the valuation process.

7.3 Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in subsidiary undertakings amounting to £Nil (2020 - £3,314,000) have also been included within level
3. Management use a combination of the underlying net assets in the subsidiary undertakings and, where relevant,
recent purchase prices, to arrive at appropriate fair values. The unobservable inputs associated with these
valuations are the values placed upon the assets and liabilities within the underlying subsidiary accounts. The
values used are considered appropriate noting that no value has been placed upon future profitability of the
subsidiaries and therefore these underlying assets and liabilities are not sensitive to any such forward looking value.

The following table shows financial assets measured at fair value analysed between the three levels in the fair value

hierarchy.

2021 - Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Corporate and government bonds 1,454 417,004 - 418,458
Equity fund investment - - 5,160 5,160
investment property - - 5174 5174
Investments in subsidiary undertakings - - - -
Total 1,454 417,004 10,334 428,792
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Corporate and government bonds 63,421 298,807 - 362,228
Equity fund investment - - 3,446 3,446
Investment property - - 4,911 4,911
Investments in subsidiary undertakings - - 3,314 3,314
Total 63,421 298,807 11,671 373,899
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8 Technical account analysis

An analysis of the underwriting result before investment return is set out below:

2021 Gross Gross Gross Gross Re-
premiums premiums claims operating insurance
written earned incurred expenses balance Total
£000 £°000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Legal expenses 77,953 74,258 (56,673) (14,179) (1,830) 1,576
Professional indemnity 101,739 96,588 (45,801) (41,100) (3,262) 6,425
Property 32,255 30,359 (17,921) (13,391) (1,055) (2,008)
Warranty 67,766 52,417 (34,768) (13,702) (1,635) 2,312
Mortgage & credit 15,853 19,208 (6,677) (6,065) (3,291) 3,175
Run-off 28,641 44,158 (43,902) (16,489) 4,712 (11,521)
Total 324,207 316,988 205,742 104,926) (6,361) (41)
2020 Gross Gross Gross Gross Re-
premiums premiums claims operating insurance
written earned incurred expenses balance Total
£'000 £°'000 £000 £'000 £000 £°000
Accident & health 19,128 25,933 (27,809) (9,554) 3,909 (7,521)
Legal expenses 96,733 79,626 (66,741) (20,013) 574 (6,554)
Medical malpractice 26,574 17,798 (12,864) (5,373) (917) (1,356)
Professional indemnity 85,521 70,428 (35,483) (31,107) (3,493) 345
Property 29,215 25,974 (7,601) (13,069) (3,032) 2,272
Warranty 39,827 59,400 (33,961) (21,945) (3.485) 9
Mortgage & credit 22,030 26,609 (8,885) (9,946) (5,205) 2,573
Run-off 27,070 41,736 (86,430) (15,493) 40,978 (19,209)
Total _ 346,098 347,504  (279,774)  (126,500) 29,329 (29,441)

Note, the run-off category includes certain lines of business which the Company has now exited.
Analysis by geographical area

The split of premium by underwriting location is shown below.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
United Kingdom 324,207 327,337
Italy - 18,762
Total 324,207 346,099

Gross written premium was lower than the prior year at £324,207,000 (2020 - £346,099,000) due to the transfer of
medical malpractice business to AA and all other EEA business to AIU in July 2020, and the lower volume of
Premiums written in discontinued operations.
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9 Prior years’ claims provisions

Material over/(under) provisions for claims at the beginning of the year as compared with net payments and
provisions at the end of the year in respect of prior years’ claims are as follows:

2021 2020
£000 £°000
Accident and health (2,042) (2,239)
Legal expenses 252 (1,989)
Medical malpractice - -
Professional indemnity 4,797 3,409
Property 5,621 13,400
Warranty 3,306 4,219
Mortgage & credit 868 800
Run-off (1,869) (6,775)
10,933 10,825
10 Net operating expenses
2021 2020
£000 £°000
Acquisition costs , 63,593 53,167
Change in deferred acquisition costs (654) 11,385
' 62,939 64,552
Administrative expenses — see note below 32,650 47,357
Profit shares 9,337 14,591
Operating expenses 104,926 126,500
Reinsurance commissions (15,449) (19,451)
Change in deferred reinsurance commissions (1,051) 650
Reinsurance profit shares - (7,609)
Net operating expenses _ 88,426 100,090
Administrative expenses include:
Auditor’'s remuneration:
- audit fee 690 761
- audit related assurance services 241 248
Operating lease rentals: :
- Plant and machinery - 522
- Land and buildings - 374
Depreciation of owned fixed assets 202 81
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (94) 7,447

Operating lease rentals were transferred to AA during 2020, following the Part Vi portfolio transfers.
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1"

12

Staff costs -

Staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration, consist of:

2021 2020
£000 £°000
* Wages and salaries (476) 1,458
Social security costs 8 308
Other pension costs (9) 77
(477) 1,843

The average number of employees, including Directors during the year was:
2021 2020
In number In number
Underwriting and claim activities ) - 16
Management services - 4
- 20

The above tables relate only to those individuals employed by the Italian Branch. 2021 costs relate to the release
of Italian Branch bonus accruals.

‘By 1 August 2020, all Italian Branch employees had transferred to AA. During 2020, in addition to individuals

employed by the Italian Branch, the Company received services from individuals, including directors, employed by
a fellow subsidiary within the group, AmTrust Management Services Limited. Copies of the financial statements of
AmTrust Management Services Limited, may be obtained from its registered office: Exchequer Court, 33 St Mary
Axe, London, England, EC3A BAA.

Directors’ remuneration

The Directors are employed and paid by a fellow subsidiary within the AmTrust Group, AmTrust Management
Services Limited. The disclosure within the note above includes the costs for those Directors that have been
recharged from AmTrust Management Services Limited.

2021 2020

£000 £°000

Emoluments 817 827
Company contributions paid to defined contribution pension schemes 20 22
Amounts receivable by directors under long term incentive schemes 19 40
856 889

The emoluments of the Directors disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the highest paid Director:

2021 2020

£'000 £°000

Emoluments 370 388
Company contributions paid to defined contribution pension schemes 16 16
Amounts receivable by directors under long term incentive schemes 13 24
399 427

During the year no Directors (2020 — none) exercised options over any shares of the Company, and no shares were
received but amounts are receivable under long-term incentive schemes.
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13 Tax on profit from ordinary activities

2021 2020
£'000 £°000
Current tax
UK corporation tax (credit) for the year (1,862)
Foreign corporation tax charge for the year - 126
UK adjustment in respect of prior years (2,282) (556)
Foreign adjustment in respect of prior years - (2,019)
Total current tax (4,144) (2,449)
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences 1,307 (3,458)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 2,486 4,978
Total deferred tax 3,793 1,520
Total tax credit for the year (351) (929)

The tax assessed for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are
explained below:

2021 2020

£000 £°000
Loss on ordinary activities before tax (1,972) (13,442)
Loss on ordinary activities at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (374) (2,554)
of 19% (2020- 19%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 4
Income not taxable for tax purposes (128) (1,059)
Non-taxable dividends 11 (10,943)
Impairment loss and revaluation gains not deductible for tax (64) 11,118
Overseas taxes at a higher rate - 126
Deduction from income for foreign tax paid - (24)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 204 2,403
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year (351) (929)

Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted as part of Finance Bill 2021 (on 24 May 2021).
These include increases to the main rate of corporation tax to 25% with effect from 01 April 2023. Deferred taxes
at the balance sheet date have been measured using the current rate of 19% as it is expected that any reversals
will take place at the current rate.

At 31 December 2021 the company has capital losses on property revaluations carried forward of £6,000,000 where
no deferred taxation has been provided in the financial statements as there is no expectation of the future reversal
of the asset.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Deferred taxation
Deferred tax asset at 1 January 6,936 8,456
(Charge)/credit to the Income Statement (3,793) (1,520)
_Deferred tax asset at 31 December 3143 __6,936
Analysis of deferred taxation
Timing differences on fixed assets 57 (66)
Losses 3,161 5618
Short term timing differences (75) 1,384
3,143 6,936
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14 Tangible assets

15

2021 Owner
occupied Total
property
£°000 £°000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 2,889 2,889
Revaluation 71 71
FX Movement (92) (92)
At 31 December 2021 2,868 2,868
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 858 858
Charged in year 202 202
FX Movement (142) (142)
At 31 December 2021 918 918
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 1,950 1,950
At 31 December 2020 2,031 2,031

Included in land and buildings is a UK property which is partly held as an investment property (see note 15) and
partly held as a tangible asset (i.e. owner-occupied property). In 2021 21.3% (2020 - 21.3%) of the building was
owner occupied and 78.7% (2020 - 78.7%) was held as an investment property. Under both classifications the
property is held at fair value less accumulated depreciation. The fair value of the property at 31 December 2021 is
£6,575,000 (2020 - £6,240,000). The carrying amount that would have been recognised had the owner-occupied
property been carried under the cost model is £1,401,000 (2020 - £1,329,000). A valuation of the UK property as
at 31 December 2021 has been performed by an independent professionally qualified third-party valuer. The results
of this valuation have been reviewed by Management and are considered to be reasonable. The adjustment to fair
value in relation to the owner-occupied element has been taken to the non-technical account.

Investment property

At valuation Historical cost
2021 2020 - 2021 2020
Investment property 5,174 4,911 9,402 9,402

The investment property amounting to £5,174,000 (2020 - £4,911,000) has been valued using current market
conditions by a third-party independent valuer, CBRE Limited, which also has been assigned a level 3 valuation
method. The valuer performed the market valuation based on the rental income as at the date of valuation and
various assumptions as to tenure, letting, town planning, and the condition and repair of buildings and sites. The
fair value is sensitive to movements in these assumptions. The economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has
been factored into the calculations and assumptions used in the valuation process.

A reconciliation between the carrying amount of investment property at the beginning and end of the period is
shown below:

£°000
Carrying value as at 1 January 2021 4,911
Revaluation 263
Carrying value as at 31 December 2021 5,174
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16 Investments in subsidiary undertakings and participating interests

Reconciliation of the carrying value of subsidiary undertakings:

Subsidiary

undertakings

£'000

At 1 January 2021 3,314

Movement during the year (3,804)

Disposal 490

At 31 December 2021 -
The movement during the year comprises:

£000

Revaluation of carrying value (56)

Dividends received (3,748)

(3,804)

Investments in subsidiary undertakings amounting to £Nil (2020 - £3,314,000) has also been assigned a level 3
valuation method. Management use a combination of internal valuation techniques to arrive at appropriate fair
values. The unobservable inputs associated with these valuations are the values placed upon the assets and
liabilities within the underlying subsidiary accounts. The values used are considered appropriate noting that no
value has been placed upon future profitability of the subsidiaries and therefore these underlying assets and
liabilities are sensitive to any such forward looking value.

The following were the subsidiary undertakings of the Company at the end of the year.

Direct subsidiaries Country of Principal activity Percentage of
incorporation ordinary share
capital owned

AMT Mortgage Insurance Limited England (a) Insurance company (dissolved 100%
1 March 2022)

AMT Mortgage Insurance Limited was dissolved on 1 March 2022. As part of the dissolution, all remaining net
assets of the company were returned to AEL through a dividend during the year of £3,748,000.

(a) Registered address is Exchequer Court, 33 St Mary Axe, London, England, EC3A 8AA
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17 Other financial investments

At valuation Historical cost
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Corporate and government bonds 418,457 362,228 418,642 354,565
Equity fund investment 5,161 3,446 1,340 1,340
423,618 365,674 419,982 355,905

Reference to financial risk management policies can be found in the Report of the Directors and note 6. All corporate
and government bonds are carried at fair value through the Income Statement.

A disaggregation of the Statement of Financial Position line item by class of financial instrument in line with the
Asset Liability Management framework is also included in note 6.

18 Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations

2021 2020
: : £'000 £000
Amounts owed by intermediaries 214,893 170,742
Amounts owed by reinsurers 30,570 32,891
245,463 203,633
- 19 Other debtors
2021 2020
£000 £°000
Other debtors 6,824 - 7,407
Corporation tax 2,288 1,301
9,112 8,708
All amounts shown in the table above are due within one year.
20 Deferred acquisition costs
2021 2020
£000 £000
At 1 January 2021 67,500 91,664
Change in asset in period 654 (11,385)
Part VII transfer out - (14,768)
Foreign exchange movement (5) 1,989
At 31 December 2021 68,149 67,500
21 Amounts owed by group undertakings
2021 2020
£000 £°000
Due from fellow subsidiaries 81,648 124,510
Total 81,648 124,510
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22 Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid

2021 2020 2021 2020
Number Number £000 £°000
Ordinacy shares of £1 each 75,043,600 75,043,600 75,044 75,044

23 Reserves
Share premium account
This reserve records the amount received for shares in excess of the nominal value of the shares.
Additional paid-in capital

Additional paid-in capital of £17,000,000 was received in the year (2020 - £nil) from AIL. This has been presented
in the statement of changes in equity.

24 Claims outstanding

2021 Reinsurers’

Gross share Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 389,618 (201,241) 188,377
Claims incurred during the year 205,742 - (104,525) 101,217
Claims paid during the year (159,201) 77,668 (81,533)
Part VII transfer out - 136 136
Foreign exchange movement 555 (245) 310
At 31 December 2021 436,714 (228,207) 208,507
2020 Reinsurers’

Gross share Total

£'000 £°000 £'000
At 1 January 2020 911,908 (561,295) 350,613
Claims incurred during the year 279,774 (141,568) 138,206
Claims paid during the year (195,089) 110,969 (84,120)
Part VII transfer out (608,752) 397,207 (211,545)
Foreign exchange movement 1,777 (6,554) (4,777)
At 31 December 2020 389,618 (201,241) 188,377
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25 Provision for unearned premiums

2021 Reinsurers’
Gross share Total
£000 £°000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 344,740 (134,146) 210,594
Premiums written in the year 324,207 (125,929) 198,278
Premiums earned in the year (316,988) 127,386 (189,602)
Foreign exchange movement (29) 13 (16)
Excess of Loss - 1,036 1,036
_At 31 December 2020 . 351,930 (131,640) 220,290
2020 Reinsurers’
Gross share Total
£000 £°000 £°000
At 1 January 2020 421,239 (144,459) 276,780
Premiums written in the year 346,099 (149,736) 196,363
Premiums earned in the year (347,504) 138,649 (208,855)
Part VII transfer in ' (76,751) 37,789 (38,962)
Foreign exchange movement 1,657 (16,389) (14,732)
At 31 December 2020 344,740 (134,146) 210,594
26 Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations
2021 2020
£000 £°000
Amounts arising out of direct insurance operations 54,680 46,158
Amounts due to reinsurers 159,491 78,479
’ 214,171 124,637
27 Other creditors including taxation and social security
2021 . 2020
£000 £000
Amounts due within one year
Corporation tax 591 2,460
Other creditors 10,671 62,562
11,262 65,022
28 Accruals and deferred income
2021 2020
£000 £000
Deferred profit commissions 8,247 5313
Deferred reinsurance commissions 15,985 17,036
24,232 22,349
The reconciliation of opening and closing deferred reinsurance commissions is as follows:
2021 2020
£000 £°000
At 1 January 17,036 18,824
Movement in provision (1,051) 650
Part VIl transfer out - (3,815)
Foreign exchange movements - 1,377
15,985 17,036
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29

30

31

Related party transactions
The Company had a quota share reinsurance arrangement with Maiden Re, which ended on 31 December 2018.

The controlling shareholders of Evergreen Parent GP LLC aiso own capital stock in Maiden Holdings Limited which
is the parent company of Maiden Re. This is not a controlling shareholding.

During 2021, £Nil (2020 - £262,437) of reinsurance premium was ceded to Maiden Re, less £Nil (2020-
£13,480,570) of reinsurance claims. The Company received an overrider of £Nil (2020 - £13,122). At 31 December
2021 Maiden Re owed £Nil to the Company (2020 - £Nil).

Parent undertakings

The Company's immediate parent undertaking is AmTrust International Limited (‘AlL’), a company registered in
England. The Company’s intermediate parent company, AllL, a company registered in Bermuda is the smallest
group in which the results of the Company are included. The Company’s ultimate parent company and controlling
party is Evergreen Parent GP LLC, a company registered in the USA and is the largest group in which the results
of the Company are consolidated. Copies of the group financial statements of AlIL are available from Washington
Mall 7 Reid street Suite 400 Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda. The address of the reglstered office of Evergreen Parent
GP LLC is 59 Maiden Lane, 43" Floor, New York NY 10038.

Collateralisation of reinsurer credit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk in relation to material accounts carried in the Company's Statement of
Financial Position both due and accrued, in respect of reinsurers' share of technical provisions. As at 31 December
2021, collateral in the form of cash funds and investments held in a segregated third party administered trust
account for the benefit of the Company has been provided by AlIL in the amount of £122,629,708 (2020 -
£153,609,694). This collateral amount is intended to mitigate the total exposure to AlIL. Management closely
monitor the coverage provided and where the timing of transactions results in any shortfall this is rectified timely.
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